THE DEEP GREEN DELUSION:

Vitalism and Communal Autarky.

Dr. Christine Anne James.

Melbourne 2013.

Dr. Christine Anne James

www.doctorchrisjames@gmail.com

Copyright © Dr Christine Anne James 2013.

This book is copyright, reproduction of the whole or any part of this book without due acknowledgement is a violation of the copyright laws. The author encourages fair use of this work for educational or communicative purposes.

Disclaimer: This work is drawn from academic research. It is written in good faith and not intended to prejudice or offend anyone. The views in this work are not necessarily shared by the author and where possible all opinions have been referenced. Any similarity between this work and others is purely coincidental. Any objections can be lodged in writing to the author.

NATIONAL LIBRARY OF AUSTRALIA CATALOGUE PUBLICATION

ISBN 978-0-9577038-2-7

Published by Transpersonal Journeys.

www.transpersonaljourneys.com

Printed and bound by

The Printing Hub

Victoria. Australia.

Cover photograph: Casandra-Rose James.

Cover Design: Chris James

Acknowledgements.

A work such as this does not happen in isolation and I wish to thank everyone who contributed with their ideas and inspiration. In particular I would like to thank Judd Zekas for building the website used for the original research. I would like to thank those I have worked with in the social movements and those who participated in focus groups. I would also like to thank my daughter Cassie-Rose James whose photography has been used on the front cover. This work is the end result of a four year study of which only a small portion is reprinted here. Articles and seminars from the study have been used by Deakin University, Melbourne. Arena Magazine, Melbourne and the Counter Currents.Org. I thank them for their support. The title was borrowed from Richard Dawkins' book *The God Delusion* and a work by Bob Ellis called *The Capitalism Delusion*.

Contents:

- 1. THE EMERGENCE OF DEPOLITICIZED GROUPS.
- 2. POST-MATERIAL ACTIVISM.
- **3.** E.F.SCHUMACHER AND ENVIRONMENT CAPITALISM.
- **4.** THE IMAGINED TRANSITION.
- **5.** LIVING BY DEFAULT.
- **6.** RETREAT FROM PROTEST.
- **7.** THE APOCALYPTIC DISCOURSE.
- **8.** THE ANTHROPOSOPHY OF RUDOLF STEINER.
- 9. COROLLARY.
 BIBLIOGRAPHY
 INDEX.

The Deep Green Delusion: Vitalism and Communal Autarky.

Since we can't stop poor people from breeding, let's build fences to keep them out. And let's ask the world's biggest polluters to pay for the fences [David Attenborough]. 1

Introduction.

I have been in the social movements since the 1960s. I was still in school when I attended my first mass rally in London. I have been an environmental activist since the 1970s, but after so many years I have had to rethink my commitment, not because I have ceased caring for nature, but because I believe nature has become a euphemism for the re-enchantment of the world as myth and mystery, a tendency that has its roots in anti-Enlightenment Romanticism and the minority traditions. I contend therefore that the deep green ecology that has risen as a solution to fast capitalism, over-consumption and climate change, is a delusion. I argue that mainstream environmentalism has failed so it has been usurped by a more radical and discursive deep ecology movement; currently the fastest growing green movement across the western world. However, I contend that deep ecology is much more than a niche environmental formula; it is a secular theology with connections to mysticism and the pessimistic philosophies, biological determinism and anti-humanism. I argue that the world needs growth and it needs environmental protections, it does not need cults and superstitions. There is nothing to be gained by a return to the wilderness except misery and an intense struggle for survival. Further, I argue that primitive

UK Guardian [2012] http://www.guardian.co.uk/environment/2012/jan/18/david-attenborough-big-business. Retrieved 22nd January 2012.

localization coupled with pessimism and social biology would reduce the world's food supply which could cost the lives of millions of people, especially in the underdeveloped world. Indeed, deep ecology combined with archaic mysticism running alongside the authoritarian state has a dark history; there are always problems in creating states with states.

1. THE EMERGENCE OF DEPOLITICIZED GROUPS.

Since the 1960s there has been the gradual emergence of the transcendent movements together with a myriad of environmental-spiritual philosophies. These include the Gaia hypothesis, deep ecology, sacred ecology, wiccan ecology, socialist ecology, ecosophy, ecofeminism, radical democracy, a mythological poetics and intelligent design. Most of these belief systems are apocalyptic and share the same tendency to mark humans as the sole cause of the world's environmental problems. Some also designate the earth as something apart from subjectivity; a kind of transcendent [w]holism that becomes a device for the creation of a new and wider system requiring alternative perceptions and realities. These new perceptions see deep ecology as the panacea of reform for a more radical environmentalism that is anti-global and anti-anthropocentric. It is something of an irony that this [w]holistic view is also promulgated through a desired localization; a contradiction in terms. '[W]holism' is a totalizing system of unification; as opposed to scientific ecology that recognizes the relationships between the biotic and a-biotic systems.²

Each of the deep ecology movements holds to the belief that the world has exceeded its carrying capacity and if populations are not reined in the entire planet will collapse. Such predictions of a collapse can only be viewed externally as the events have not yet happened. Moreover, such a prediction serves to shift the gaze from an earth upon which humanity is identifiably settled and conscious of *being* and *being in* to a view taken from an elevated position, somewhere out in space where external surveillance becomes a necessary part of the earthly morality and social ordering; the ultimate 'Godtrick' or what Donna Haraway has described as new forms of exterior

Peter C. van Wyck [1997] *Primitives in the Wilderness: Deep Ecology and the Missing Human Subject.* N.Y. State University Press, p40-41.

subjugation and domination.³ To be clear, [w]holism does not value people, it gives value to a transcendent fantasy; a boundary object; that is a vision of utopia, idolatry and supplementation, which over time can change the human perceptions.

In every epoch there have been visionaries or people who have strived for a better world. The most recent vision that has emerged has come in the form of the green movement, but the green movement has also revealed itself to be limited. The imagined idyll of pristine landscapes and equality does not match the human capability to bring the vision to fruition; so it has been replaced with a more discursive movement; that of a quasi-religious ecology, ecosophy and anti-anthropocentricism; sometimes referred to as post-humanism.

Deep ecology and ecosophy represent a transcendental [w]holism; a mystical-poetic movement that espouses the view that modern industrialization and anthropocentricism are the root cause of environmental problems and a predicted ecological catastrophe. 'Anthropocentricism' is a term that refers to making humans pre-eminent in the world's systems. In this respect ecology is a critique of humanist environmentalism. Ecosophy, like deep ecology, is also the rejection of a mainstream reform environmentalism. While natural ecology presents as a science, ecosophy and deep ecology pose as a vehicle for a philosophical and semantic expression of ecological praxis that includes a nature based spirituality. The ecologist Warwick Fox puts it this way

ecosophy is the idea that we can make no ontological divide in the field of existence; that there is no bifurcation in reality between

³

Donna Haraway [1992] *The Promise of Monsters: A regenerative Politics for Inappropriate/d Others*. In Cultural Studies [Ed.] L. Grossberg, C. Nelson and P. Treichler, N.Y. Routledge, p295.

human and the non-human realms...to the extent that we perceive boundaries, we fall short of deep ecological consciousness.⁴

In other words ecosophy moves beyond the political and social positions of environmentalism and invokes the New Age and Taoist traditions. Fox gives the example of the Zen Master, Dogen:

To study the way is to study the self

To study the self is to forget the self

To forget the self is to be enlightened

By all things

To be enlightened by all things is to remove the barrier between one's self and others.⁵

In the Taoist regime the questioning 'self' is not a self at all, but an outsider and mere 'organic specimen'. Similarly, deep ecology is not concerned with people, problems or social analysis; rather it defines a new ethical relationship between humans and the world that condemns the perceived human domination of nature. However, the domination problem is not intrinsically human; there are many living organisms that dominate [and are dominated by] aspects of nature. Further, the human component is not the simplistic equation assumed,

_

Bill Devall and George Sessions [1985] *Deep Ecology: Living as if Nature Mattered*. Salt Lake City, Gibbs M. Smith, p66.

⁵ Ibid.

Peter C. van Wyck [1997] *Primitives in the Wilderness: Deep Ecology and the Missing Human Subject*. N.Y. State University Press, p40-41.

but also one of ingenuity, historicism and representation. To lump all humans together and say they are irresponsible, bad and the enemy of earth is not a rational position.

Deep ecology argues that a reduction in human discovery - referred to as 'interventions' - would reinvigorate a pristine world. This makes deep ecology a philosophy of nature as well as an ideological and political program. Deep ecology aims to change the centrality of humans in the world, therefore changing the epistemology of historical consciousness. Deep ecology wants to make nature the primary focus of existence, but importantly, this is not to live in the world as a human being, but to live in a state of dissociation. In psychotherapy people experiencing this condition have lost reality and are considered to have a mental illness. Indeed, any de-centering poses grave dangers for human consciousness because a re-centering of reality cannot always be brought about easily.

De-centering of the subject bodes with a Jungian-style cosmic consciousness and the spiritual collective, but scientifically, there is no such thing as a collective consciousness.⁸ What is proposed is also a discursive antirational polity which lends credence to a master-slave regime; that is nature as God and the essential caregiver demanding loyalty, duty and dependence. Notwithstanding, deep ecology has become the nodal point of an environmental shift that depends on alliances constructed around complex ecological hegemonies; this in turn 'induces an intimate state of power' ⁹ and a system of rules on how we should think about the world.

_

⁷ Ibid.

Donna Haraway [1992] *The Promise of Monsters: A regenerative Politics for Inappropriate/d Others*. In Cultural Studies [Ed] L. Grossberg, C. Nelson and P. Treichler .N.Y. Routledge, p295.

The Antecedents.

The Peace Movement, the Civil Rights Movement, the Feminist Movement and the Environment Movement all stemmed from the humanist traditions and a discourse that focused on caring, sharing, fairness and progress. In Europe the new social movements were a reaction to the devastation caused by the Second World War and the fears of another war looming. The main impetus for the social movements came from the works of Karl Marx, which argued that the world's ideologies were made palatable by a systemic indoctrination and false consciousness. Thus the political collective must act to heighten social awareness and bring about equitable change. The workers movements followed this principle as did a vast sector of the environment movement, albeit much of it middle class.

Marx was not the only influence on the 1960s transformative thinking, other ideas were grounded in the writings of Max Weber, Thorstein Veblen, Jean Paul Sartre, the constructionists and deconstructionists, the postmodernists and the social movement theorists, so on and so forth. Thorstein Veblen for example, applied two economic concepts to the understanding of modern western traditions 'conspicuous leisure' and 'conspicuous consumption'. Veblen has never really been recognized for his contributions to environmentalism. Nonetheless, Veblen's works were important because Veblen wrote about the way the middle and upper classes consumed goods differently. He suggested the middle class [who must earn their livelihood] improve their reputation by acquiring material wealth, while the upper class were more concerned to demonstrate their social status as 'gentleman of leisure' in order to enhance their reputation. In the British traditions it was the middle class who were the

-

T. Veblen [1899] The *Theory of the Leisure Class* in Miriam Schnier [Ed.] New York Vintage 1994 pp214-215.

consumers, while the upper class protected their lands. Some of those lands were handed to the state after the modern capitalist revolution and there have been concerted efforts by the elite to win them back again. The closing off of lands for conservation has become an important global issue in environmentalism, but it has come at the expense of the poor who need lands to build shelters, harvest fuels and grow food.

Veblen's work delineated a clear shift from agrarianism to mass consumerism brought about by modern industrialization. It is a shift that needs to be understood in the context of the nation state and its mediation between consumer capital and labor. Environment issues were historically rooted in class and they still are, albeit in a more discursive culturally oriented manner. This in turn has led to social movements that are prone to cultural relativity, as well as being sometimes mystical and sometimes theological, or both.

Veblen's work revealed a great deal about the middle class character and their relation to the earth. In particular he directed attention to the way people changed their use of the environment. Veblen focused on the tendency to development recreational gardens. For instance, lawns were originally a status symbol for medieval lords who used them to display their wealth. Lawns did two things, they showed that the owner could afford to take land out of production and that someone could be paid to cut the grass that would normally have been feed for stock animals. In the eighteenth century lawns became an obsession with the middle class who copied the aristocracy in their design and the love of symmetry.¹¹ The cultivated garden represented the control of nature and the taming of the wilderness. It also duplicated the trend of colonizers who would steal and cultivate the lands and resources of other nations and utilize their populations as cheap labor.

11

Ibid, p82.

Nation and land are inextricably linked. The nation-state 'guarantees the ownership of private property and its uses'. The nation state also 'uses the means of production as a way of disciplining the workforce'. The nation state abstractly determines the nature of community and its centrality in the principles of governance. ¹² While states have existed for thousands of years the nation state is primarily a product of modernism and it is designed to maintain social control amidst consumer capitalist expansion. The nation state keeps control by eliminating its enemies. ¹³ Implicit in the nation state is the construction of the 'Other' against whom all members of the nation state can identify and distinguish themselves. ¹⁴ While the nation and its community are generally described as a unified, homogeneous group the nation will always construct its 'Other' to affirm its identity and perceived [w]holeness. Further, the 'Other' frequently stands in contrast to the propertied class or those who assume hierarchical superiority and/or racial purity.

Globalization has confounded many of the nations' aims and objectives and it has undermined the western view of the 'Other'. It has changed the visibility of class, widened the gap between rich and poor and caused the loss of sovereignty, especially in relation to lands. Today, multinational corporations can seize whole escarpments, excavate for minerals and pollute the surrounds and there is little anyone can do about it.

E. Wolf [1982] *Europe and the People Without History*. Berkley, University of California Press, p 100. See also R. Robbins [2008] *Global problems and the culture of capitalism*, Boston Pearson pp109- 116.

Max Weber [1946] *The Protestant Ethic and the Spirit of Capitalism*. New York, Scribner's Sons, p182 and http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/weber/ Retrieved 20th June, 2009.

¹⁴ R. Robbins [2008] *Global problems and the culture of capitalism*, Boston, Pearson, p116.

To be abundantly clear, as the social theorist Max Weber [1946] noted society has deliberately constructed its 'ideal' citizen or group [the status-quo] to demarcate the presence of its opposite; the 'Other' or the dissidents. This trend begins with Comte and Durkheim in the preferential treatment of groups, more recently referred to as a politics of difference. The point of departure for defining the 'ideal' citizen/group comes with the intervention of the 'Other'. Therefore the 'ideal' citizen/group cannot be constructed without conflict.

Karl Marx clearly identified the capitalist ideology as the root cause of conflicts between the proletariat and the bourgeoisie class. Louis Althusser moved away from the traditional way of thinking about Marxism and likened the capitalist ideology to a 'symbolic order'. Jacques Lacan in his psychoanalytic understanding of reality suggested that the world humans created around them was not real because humans entered into a 'symbolic order' at birth that remained unknowable. Hence, Althusser deduced that ideology simply represented an imaginary relationship of individuals that was mythological. Ideology therefore misrepresented itself and could be referred to as metaphysical or transcendent. Notwithstanding, the 'symbolic order' has very real consequences.

Ideology has since been likened to a religion because people can adopt it, live by it and not really understand its workings or implications. Ideology implies faith. In other words, ideology has a symbolic power that causes people to learn the narratives in a rote fashion and then become willing participants in their own oppression and exploitation. The twist is this; following the transcendental implications of European fascism and the Holocaust who could have truly imagined that a quasi-religious transcendent

-

Dino Felluga [2013] *Modules on Althusser: On Ideology. Introductory Guide to Critical Theory*.http://www.purdue.edu/guidetotheory/marxism/modules/althusserideology.html . Retrieved 30th January 2013.

might become the foundation for a New Age politics? Enter spiritual [deep] ecology.

Ideology need not be politicized, but it is almost always involved in the exercise or suppression of political power. Hitherto, deep ecology is not just about worshiping nature, it is about using nature as a vehicle for domination.

To be succinct, deep ecologists dehumanize people by putting the earth first. They regard humanity as no more important than plants, animals or the amoeba. However, by removing the custodial role of humanity in respect of nature means that all the historically acquired sentiments, ethics and responsibilities are also removed. This leaves an 'anything-goes' regime. It would be naïve to believe that by countervailing the attention given to human subjectivity all environmental damage will cease. This suggests a lack of historical and evolutionary knowledge. Moreover, this intended ecological shift does not bind humans to nature; rather it creates another form of duality; the 'light' of nature and the 'darkness' of a seemingly failed humanity. The idea is moribund and obsequious and it could have dire consequences for the world's most vulnerable life forms because deep ecology has put social ecology into the realms of biological [pre]determinism. This designated status affords humans no rights, no ethics, no compassion, no conscience and no change because it separates earth from the human emotions, ideas, language, actions and history. It does not take into account that while some humans do harm the environment many more draw from its abundance in ways that are honorable and replenishing.

The social theorist Peter van Wyck asks, 'what is it to assume this kind of position beyond the world?' In the sentiments of French philosopher Michel Foucault, van Wyck likens the situation to 'an attempt to structure agent and patient...beneath the distant gaze of an extra-terrestrial observer' where

'ecological threats can then be understood through metaphors of disease.' ¹⁶ Sick people are living on a sick planet! [My emphasis]. Peter van Wyck contends that should the post-human position become popular the earth's problems would fall beneath the extra-terrestrial gaze and would simply be invisible in space. ¹⁷ Too many humans have been politically invisible before; women within patriarchy, slaves in the Americas and elsewhere, Jews in the Holocaust; political prisoners in dictatorships, so on and so forth.

In and Against History.

The deep ecology movement that has its roots in anarchy and the Paris Commune has gathered a large following, which in turn has become encapsulated into a common academic cliché, Darwin was right, Marx was wrong, but this is a rather troubling concept. Darwin was interested in the evolution of the species; he had no desire to create the framework for culling the human genus. The world has already experienced societies formulated on the misappropriation of Darwinism [social Darwinism] and there is ensuing condemnation of the crimes incurred. Marxism has also been rejected as totalitarian, but deep ecology moves beyond Marxism to a more extreme form of anti-capitalism and anarchic authoritarianism. At the same time the popularity of heritage and the revival of the commune are rapidly gathering momentum. These collectives are heralding from a privileged site; namely the depoliticized green sector that advocates a universal transition beginning with small communities and local economies, but who makes up these collectives? Not the poor, the hungry, the sick and displaced. Who will care for these 'Others' if the local community innovators dispense with global human rights?

Peter C. van Wyck [1997] *Primitives in the Wilderness: Deep Ecology and the Missing Human Subject.* N.Y. State University Press, p24.

¹⁷ Ibid.

Deep ecology has increased its influence in grassroots environment and radical democracy groups across Europe, the United States, Canada, New Zealand and Australia. It has pervaded the western culture in much the same way as the 1930s ecology movement pervaded the German peasant culture and prepared the setting for a German Heimatschutz, the movement that served to prop-up the Third Reich during the Second World War. Like Heimatschutz the deep ecology themes are understood as liberating and a way of undermining the corrupt and destructive forces that cause social disparities and institutionalized failure; but deep ecology by its own [w]holistic rules must embrace all lifeforms within the ecology system. This means the *Whole Earth*, albeit sometimes in the negative.

2. POST-MATERIAL ACTIVSM.

The accepted sociological approach for understanding the rise of new social movements is to locate them within a general social movement theory. The early studies into social movements followed Aristotle's warning against the tyranny of mob rule. Hobbes used this idea to suggest that 'society is a war of groups against groups'.¹⁸ This view has led to the notion that mass social movements are generally pathological and contagious. For over a century social movement research has been focused on investigating incidents of behavioral contagion and how to control it. Contagion appears to occur at all levels of society, but it is believed to be more problematic within the political or dissident groups.¹⁹ This should come as no surprise because the early studies of dissident behavior coincided with the need to protect a bourgeoning capitalist system and a rising middle class.

Gustav Le Bon [1841-1931] examined behavioral contagion and believed that conscious decisions were the outcome of an unconscious sub-stratum and largely due to hereditary factors, he also suggested that the individual characteristics were absent in the group.

Gustav Le Bon was born on May 7th 1841 before the French Revolution. He lived until December 13th 1931, after the First World War and shortly before Adolf Hitler came to power in 1933. Le Bon was a trained physician who expounded his theories of crowd psychology and likened them to herd behavior. Hitler used these ideas to manage his social re-ordering of the German people.

C. Jenkins, [1981] *Sociopolitical Movements* in the *Handbook of Political Behavior*. Vol. 4. Samuel L. Long. [Ed.] Plenum Press, N.Y., pp 81-83.

G. Tarde, [1903] in Nye R.A. [1974] *The Origins of Crowd Psychology*. London and Thousand Oaks Sage. And Le Bon [1895, 1903] The *Crowd*. N. Y. Viking Press.

From Le Bon Hitler gained an insight of the power and malleability of the primal crowd.

The collective behavior and mobilization movements involved a politics of shared experiences, otherwise called an identity politics. In contrast, the depoliticized, cultural and affinity groups are associated with network societies.' Here the experiences of members need not be the same, but they are still immersed in a perception of shared identity in order to maintain the group. The group then becomes more important than the issues that brought the group together in the first place.

In reality, people do not have a shared identity; they have individuality and fluidity. Contrived identities can be political, but they also remain essentially instrumental.²¹ Further, there are profound levels of differences in personalized commitments within the social movements.

Fluidity has become more important with the current patterns of social life revolving around complex mediums and communications, but the process is rarely linear and this opens the way for a host of ambiguities. ²² For instance, the desire to return to the simple lifestyle for the sake of the environment does not preclude the use of the Internet and online networks, or the appropriation of other media outlets, albeit the energy footprint might far outweigh any sustainability discourse. In the context of an information age networks have become pivotal to all forms of organization including political and non-political activism. Identity has also been crucial to the social movements for the

Kevin McDonald [2002] From Solidarity to Fluidarity: Social Movements Beyond Collective Identity – the case of globalization conflicts in Social Movement Studies Vol. 1 no 2. p100.

²¹ Ibid, p111-2.

Manuel Castells [2000] *Materials for the Exploratory Theory of the Network Society*. Cambridge, Blackwell.

cultivation of credibility and the belief that people have the power to make a difference. Over time a lot of effort has been put into creating identity in the political movements; this involves demonstrating, marching, speeches, media releases, creating logos and symbols, all these things help to create an identity, but there has also been a lot of debate over the efficacy of consensus in the social movements.²³ This can break the bonds of political solidarity.²⁴ The result is fragmentation, confusion and anarchy as well as disorganized violence on the streets, which in turn invites a deeper radicalism.

The Cultural Shift.

The German sociologist Niklas Luhmann studied the changes in social movements and noted that since the inception of the postmodern context the social movements have shifted away from the hierarchical order and become purely situational and functional. This has resulted in the fact that most social movements fail to find 'a permanent place in fixed ideologies.' This, in Luhmann's view, has led to 'pluralism and fragmentation,' whereby multiple interests compromises clarity and causes dissent. ²⁵ On the one hand such conflict invites more contingent alliances and on the other it heralds forms of separatism, isolation and the failure of common interest groups. ²⁶ The empirical evidence shows that 'extra-institutional protest campaigns and mobilizations in the past' have been closely aligned 'to deficits in the functions and performance of political parties and interest groups'. According to Luhmann, this is what

Alberto Melucci [1996 a] *Changing Codes: Collective Action in the Information Age.* Cambridge, Cambridge University Press. p 2

Sigmund Freud [1929] Civilization and its Discontents. Harmmondsworth. Penguin.

Niklas Luhmann [1977] *Differentiation of Society* in *Canadian Journal of Sociology*, Vol. 2. 29.53.

²⁶ Ibid.

'brought about the 'development of the fascist movements in various European countries in the 1920s...' 27

Lifestyle Groups.

Contemporary social movements are said to operate primarily at the level of civil society and are no longer interested in the struggles for economic redistribution; instead they are oriented towards 'post material' or 'quality of life issues'. ²⁸ ²⁹ Quality of life issues clearly evolve around the centrality of humans, their rights and obligations. As such life becomes a diverse and fulfilling experience. Deep ecology aims to intervene in all forms of subjective identity which creates and gives meaning to human life. Deep ecology opposes humanism and evades democracy in favour of a communal unification, but this oneness has a flip-side of authority which in turn can lead to rigid tunnel vision, nationalism and xenophobia. Nationalism arises from the same conditions that also give rise to democracy, but when there are limits put on democracy it causes people seek a local identity, strong boundaries and protectionism. This can deepen the politics and create communal autarky, which works in favor of the ruling class.

Since the eighteenth century Enlightenment there have been three identifiable classes within modern western society; the upper class or aristocracy, the middle class and the worker/peasant class. The middle class was said to act as a buffer between the very rich and the very poor classes.

-

H. Kriesi, R. Koopmans J.W.Duyvendak and M.G. Giungi [1995] *New Social Movements in Wester Europe: A Comparative Analysis*. Minneapolis, University of Minnesota, pp167-98.

A. Melucci [1985] *The Symbolic Challenge of Contemporary Movements* in *Social Research* 52 [4] pp789-816.

Greg Martin [2002] Conceptualizing Cultural Politics in Sub-Cultural and Social Movement Studies in Social Movement Studies Vol. 1. No 1, 2002, p 76.

Undoubtedly, corporate globalization has caused a rapid decline in the middle class and increased the anger towards the rich and powerful whereby in the context of late capitalism, a visible class reification appears to be taking place through a transition to small business and local communities. The community then becomes an exemplar against which all other aims and objectives can be measured and evaluated. In other words the community becomes the ultimate body of social containment. This kind of sovereignty was codified in the pre-War German policy that was built on anti-globalization, a resurgence of the peasant class and the deep minority traditions. Deep ecology has an interest in the minority traditions in so far as they are primal and pre-historical. It is the pre-historical traditions that allude to an embryonic version of humanity; a free floating entity outside order or governance. Hence, its return is perceived as non-hierarchical and desirable. The primitive realm gives the appearance of eradicating all the pernicious aspects of modern capitalism, but nothing could be further from the truth. Indeed, it creates the very conditions that led to modern capitalism in the first place.

The history of Europe since the French Revolution has been one of rising nationalism. This is not unique to the western societies; Asia, Africa and numerous other countries have embraced struggles and policies for the creation of a national identity. Nationalism has been both forward and backward looking, democratic and authoritarian.³⁰ Nationalism is a 'phenomenon peculiar to people who share a cosmopolitan and secular culture in which the belief in progress is strong.' Nationalism occurs when people become aware of cultural diversity and are moved to compare their achievements and capacities

³⁰

Ibid.

John Plamenatz [1976] *Mass Politics and the Political Liturgy of Nationalism*, in Nationalism: *The Nature and Evolution of an Idea*. [Ed.] Eugene Kamenka, London Edward Arnold, p23.

with those of 'Others', this leads to the desire to seize what the 'Other' has, albeit sometimes through forms of paternalism.

3. E.F. SCHUMACHER AND ENVIRONMENT CAPITALISM.

Radical environmentalism was generally viewed as incompatible with modern capitalism; the radical green movement therefore has been perceived utopian and never likely to achieve its aims. In the 1960s there were attempts to bridge the differences via the *Whole Earth Catalogue*, which advocated a form of environmental pragmatism. The book by Stewart Brand was about changing lifestyle and it was predicated on the view that 'individual buyers have far more control over economic behavior than voters'. ³² The idea gathered a significant group of liberal followers who were also devotees of the ecologist E.F. Schumacher.

Schumacher's philosophy was steeped in German idealism. He was born in Bonn, Germany in 1911 and came from an educated and affluent family; his father was a politics professor. Schumacher studied in Germany and then received a Rhodes scholarship to Oxford England [1930].³³ He travelled to America and returned to England before the Second World War where he was interned as an 'enemy alien'. Schumacher spent his internment on an isolated English farm until the renowned economist John Maynard Keynes secured his release. Schumacher then used his economic knowledge to help the British Government mobilize its economy for the war effort. Schumacher is on the record as being opposed to the Nazis, but allegedly some of his family members were Nazis. Schumacher's seventeen year old brother Ernst died at the Russian front in 1941.

-

Andrew G. Kirk, Counterculture Green: The Whole Earth Catalog and American Environmentalism Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, 2007], pp11, 52. See also J. Baldwin, [Ed], Whole Earth Ecology: The Best of Environmental Tools and Ideas [New York: Harmony Books, 1990], p3 and The Updated Last Whole Earth Catalog: Access to Tools [Menlo Park, CA: Knowles, [1971], p43.

³³ Ibid.

After the war Keynes found Schumacher a job at Oxford University. ³⁴ Like Keynes, Schumacher was a moral and fiscal conservative who, in the spirit of Edmund Burkes' *Reflections on the Revolution in France*, believed in a philosophy of prudence whereby governments should put limits on spending and debt. ³⁵ Schumacher sought to introduce an economic equilibrium. Economic equilibrium was a topic that interested Keynes. Hence, the popular concept of 'Keynesian macroeconomic equilibrium' is generally used by liberal governments when fiscal policy is showing a deficit. In effect, equilibrium means a balance of opposing forces and its use in economics probably comes from its original use in science.

Schumacher was a strong nationalist, moralist and advocate of *Limits to Growth*. Schumacher's book titled *Small Is Beautiful: Economics As If People Mattered* is a collection of published essays often used to champion small business and the middle class. Schumacher gathered a cult following because his convincing rhetoric juxtaposed the seemingly 'bad' west with the perceived 'good' east, thus endorsing an already growing culture in alternative and spiritual lifestyles. The '*Small is Beautiful*' idea stands in contrast to the phrase 'bigger is better', which is considered an American colloquialism and oriented towards global expansion. Schumacher's rhetoric therefore appealed to Britain's anti-American sentiments in the context of the 1960s Cold War. Schumacher was also liked by the American conservatives because 'small' equated with being special and exclusive.

-

Zeneth City News. E.F. Schumacher. http://www.zenithcitynews.com/080211/faces.htm Retrieved 7th May 2012.

E.L. Schumacher [1973] *Small is Beautiful* at Wikipedia.Org http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Small_Is_Beautiful and Wikipedia.Org and http://www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/E._F._Schumacher Retrieved 7th November, 2011.

Schumacher earned his reputation around the *Small is Beautiful* catchphrase, but it was a profound contradiction when compared to his role as head of the United Kingdom's National Coal Board. Schumacher held the position as the Board's Chief Economic Advisor for twenty years and was committed to England's vast and exploitative coal industry. Indeed, the National Coal Board was one of the world's largest organizations with 800,000 employees. Coal was used for electricity production and it was a nationalized industry. Britain's coal was the dirtiest coal in Europe, high in dangerous sulphur emissions and the cause of a myriad of deadly respiratory diseases. As many as 20,000 miners died each year from coal related accidents,³⁶ many more from lung disease. Schumacher was seemingly committed to the lethal coal industry for political reasons and he continually developed deeper and dirtier mines that allegedly killed thousands of innocent people. ³⁷

Schumacher was also the British Control Commissioner in Germany and adviser to the Government of Burma after the country became independent and adopted socialist autarky. In 1962 Schumacher advised the Government of India on rural problems, which is where he gained his liking for all things primitive. Everything Schumacher touched became endowed with the primitive idealism of a German pastoral pedagogy, a popular colonialist view that romanticized the lower classes. ³⁸ Eastern values characterized Schumacher's ecology as well as his stance against economic growth and globalization.

_

History of *coal* mining - Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia *en.wikipedia.org/wiki/History_of_coal_mining Retrieved 2*nd *January*, 2012.

Anna Bramwell [1994] *The Fading of the Greens: The Decline of Environmental Politics in the West.* New Haven, N.Y. State University Press, p52.

Anna Bramwell [1994] *The Fading of the Greens: The Decline of Environmental Politics in the West.* New Haven, N.Y. Sate University Press, p50.

It was at the height of the post-War Reconstruction that Schumacher truly established himself as a prominent identity in British society. He mixed with British Labor celebrities Hugh Gaitskell, Michael Foot, Hugh Dalton, Jennie Lee, and Stafford Cripps; socialists who built economic policies around heavy industrialized development especially for the coal and steel markets. Schumacher juxtaposed the interests of big industries with his personal hobby of organic farming in much the same way as the aristocracy had balanced their polluting activities with redeeming ones in previous decades.

Schumacher founded the Intermediate Technology Development Group [now Practical Action] in 1966 and was a founding member of the Soil Association. The establishment of the Soil Association was to Britain what the Sierra Club was to the United States. The strongest influences came from Rudolf Steiner's Anthroposophy, vitalism and [w]holistic deep ecology. Most Soil Association members believed in alternative medicines, communes and crafts as well as a charismatic leadership. Similar sentiments were pursued by Heimatschutz which saw strong inter-connections between the German and British ecology movements.

German ecology has its roots in the works of German scientist and Darwinist scholar Ernst Haeckel [1834-191]. In 1971, Daniel Gasman published a detailed account of Haeckel's work titled *Scientific Origins of National Socialism: Social Darwinism in Ernst Haeckel and the German Monist League*. As Gasman claimed Haeckel's ecology played a decisive role in the Völkish genesis.³⁹ In *Ontogeny and Phylogeny* [1977] scientist Stephen Jay Gould concurred with Gasman's view. After investigating the consequences of Haeckel's 'biogenetic law', which is the theory 'that the embryo of an advanced

Daniel Gasman, *Haeckel's Monism and the Birth of Fascist Ideology* New York: Peter Lang, 1998 p. 26.

creature recapitulates the same morphological stages that the phylum went through in its evolutionary descent', Gould came to the conclusion that the 'Law', whilst 'not Haeckel's most enduring legacy...' was 'Haeckel's greatest influence' on 'national socialism.' This Law has become the nucleus of New Age thinking which promulgates the view that humans have a genetic memory to the extent that they can recall past lives, spirits and images from the historical milieu. Millions of gullible people every year get hooked into the belief that ghosts can somehow be manifested to provide oracles and guidance for life's important decisions.

Royal Connections.

While Ernst Haeckel would become the greatest influence on the ecology movement, the British Soil Association arrived with the publication of *The Living Soil* a book by Lady Eve Balfour the sister of the United Kingdom's Prime Minister, in 1943' and the daughter of the Second Earl of Balfour. Lady Balfour [1899-1990] was an English organic farmer and a founding figure in the organic movement. Her book argued in favor of 'alternative, sustainable agriculture, a practice that has also become known as permaculture. Organic farming is still practiced by members of the British Royal Family, in particular Prince Charles, Prince of Wales and of necessity it is still practiced by the rural poor.

Clever marketing and health scares have made organic food very popular. Almost every supermarket has a shelf with organic produce. However, the

Stephen Jay Gould, [1977] *Ontogeny and Phylogeny*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, p 77.

Lady Eve Balfour - Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia
www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Lady_Eve_Balfour and the Soil Association
www.soilassociation.org/ Retrieved 16th March 2012.

industry has also come under scrutiny and now requires certification before produce can reach consumer outlets. There are numerous studies in favor of organic farming, but there are also strong fears that should the method become the norm it will not feed the world's population. Scientific modeling found it would take too long to make a global switch to organic farming and people would die in the interim. Even if organic farming did feed everyone, it would not solve the problems of corruption and distribution. It appears the real problem of not being able to feed the masses is the existing food system that works against the longevity of the poor and disadvantaged. Also, organic farming is labor intensive and the transition would cost too much.⁴² Hence, the practice of organic farming remains elitist. [Oddly, the biggest advocates of organic farming, the deep ecologists could turn out to be its greatest enemy, simply because they have lost the respect for human life and the progress needed to sustain the organics industry].

Organics and the British Union of Fascists.

The use of organics as an exclusive food source resonates with the ideas of Jorian Jenks, another of the Soil Association's founders and a former member of the British Union of Fascists [BUF]. Jenks was also a close associate with the anti-Semite Oswald Mosley. Jenks was the editorial secretary of the Association's journal *Mother Earth* and he was the agricultural advisor to the BUF party. Jenks gathered a large following in Britain and tried to lead the nation into fierce anti-Semitic policies that ran alongside his agricultural autarky.⁴³ Following Jenks death in 1963, the Association moved towards the *Left*, but still retained its exclusive upper class temper. Today, the Royal Patron

-

Brian Halweil [2012] *Worldwatch - Eat Here: Reclaiming Homegrown Pleasures in a Global Supermarket*. www.worldwatch.org Retrieved 12th January, 2012.

G. Macklin [2007] Very Deeply Dyed in Black, New York: IB Tauris, 2007, p. 64.

of the Soil Association is Britain's Prince Charles, Prince of Wales. ⁴⁴ Recent leaders have included people like Barry Commoner who died in 2012. Commoner was an American biologist, a college professor and President of the Citizens Party. He ran for President of the United States in 1980. In his 1971 book *The Closing Circle*, Commoner argued that polluting products should be replaced with natural products. He was also concerned with poverty in the developing world. Commoner was one of the first to bring the idea of sustainability to public attention and one of the few who cared about the poorer nations. He took a left-wing, eco-socialist position to the *Limits to Growth* discourse arguing that capitalist technologies were chiefly responsible for environmental degradation, as opposed to population pressures. Commoner had a long running conflict with population controls advocate Paul Ehrlich because he believed the measures used to deal with over-population were unnecessarily coercive.

With the rise of deep ecology population control was put back on the agenda. Moreover, the debate has been stepped-up to include discourses on closing borders to protect the rich and punish the poor. The same aggressive arguments for controlling populations target those who consume the least, but who occupy lands needed for mining or conservation. There is also a new player in the field; carbon. In the context of new carbon markets; carbon debts and carbon credits can be traded on the international circuits making the closing off of lands very lucrative. The forced seizure of lands for mining and conservation [an odd mix] is displacing millions of powerless people. However, saving or utilizing the earth is perceived more important than caring for people. Hence, the biologist David Graber writes:

44

Ibid.

Human happiness, and certainly human fecundity, are not as important as a wild and healthy planet....[The ecosystem has] intrinsic value, more value to me than another human body or a billion of them....Until such time as Homo Sapiens should decide to rejoin nature, some of us can only hope for the right virus to come along.⁴⁵

That a devastating virus might take out vast sectors of the world's population has gained a lot of credence in the deep ecology movement. Coincidently, the idea has run alongside a general cutting of foreign AID to developing world countries.

In 1968 the mantra for decreasing the population was *The Population Bomb*, a best-selling book written by Paul Ehrlich who warned of mass starvation due to high birth rates. ⁴⁶ Ehrlich argued that feeding the exploding population in the future was an impossible task. In answer to the question, 'what needs to be done?' he wrote: We must rapidly bring the world population under control, reducing the growth rate to zero or making it negative. Conscious regulation of human numbers must be achieved'. ⁴⁷ Ehrlich floated the idea of adding 'temporary sterilants' to the water supply or staple foods. However, he later rejected the idea as impractical. ⁴⁸ The task for controlling population was then given to the United States to be included in its foreign policy. Ehrlich suggested that countries with sufficient policies in place to limit population growth, and have the ability to become self-sufficient in the future, should continue to receive food AID. Countries that fell behind would have

-

Los Angeles Times, October 29, 1989, p 9.

Paul R. Ehrlich [1968] *The Population Bomb*. N. Y. Ballantine Books.

⁴⁷ Ibid.

⁴⁸ Ibid p136.

their food AID eliminated. India was one of the countries to be eliminated.⁴⁹

While Ehrlich's work has been largely discredited his ideas have filtered into the anti-globalization and deep ecology discourses. The American writer Robert Howard has allegedly offered an extermination timeline available on the Internet. In 2006 the leading scientist Dr. Eric R. Pianka allegedly gave a speech in Austin Texas where he suggested culling the population. Dr. Henry Kissinger was another to suggest a means of eliminating the number of people. He quoted reasons of national security. Kissinger said, '[t]he U.S. economy will require large and increasing amounts of minerals from abroad, especially from less-developed countries...' Kissinger went on to suggest, 'wherever a lessening of population can increase the prospects for such stability, population policy becomes relevant to resources, supplies and to the economic interests of the U.S.'52

Kissinger is believed to have prepared a depopulation manifesto for President Jimmy Carter called *Global 2000*, which gave details on using food as a weapon to de-populate the 'third world'.⁵³ This was not an isolated view. The Australian mining magnate Lang Hancock would not back down from his

⁴⁹ Ibid 161.

Robert Howard [2011] A *History Timeline of Population Control* www.theforbiddenknowledge.com/.../populationcontrolagenda2.htm Retrieved 29th October, 2011.

Propaganda Matrix Org. [2011] *Top Scientist Advocates Mass Culling 90% Of Human Population* http://www.propagandamatrix.com/articles/april2006/030406masculling.htm Retrieved 26th December, 2011.

⁵² Ibid.

⁵³ Ibid.

inflammatory statements that half-caste Aborigines should be sterilized.⁵⁴ Australia has a small population compared to the rest of the industrialized world; it also has significantly more resources. Yet, the desire to curb population growth still prevails and harks back to an earlier era where an all white Australia policy was the rule.

In 2010 the animal liberationist, bioethicist and Princeton Professor Peter Singer wrote an article in the *New York Times* titled *Should This Be The Last Generation*? In the article Singer suggested people should voluntarily opt for sterilization. Singer argued that bringing no additional children into the world would improve things since [a] we are hurting the environment, and [b] life 'sucks' anyway.⁵⁵ As Singer pointed out his view is a replication of Arthur Schopenhauer's pessimism detailed in the book *The World as Will and Representation*, this is a 'world of constantly needy creatures who continue for a time merely by devouring one another, pass their existence in anxiety and want, and often endure terrible affliction, until they fall at last into the arms of death.' Schopenhauer believed 'nothing else can be stated as the aim of our existence except the knowledge that it would be better for us not to exist'. ⁵⁶ With this in mind, Singer articulated three core beliefs:

- 1. Human beings are net destroyers.
- 2. Human beings experience life in net-negative terms.

Extract from Hansard ASSEMBLY - Thursday, 5 December 2002 ... www.parliament.wa.gov.au/.../A36%20S2%2020021205%20p4116b Retrieved 4th June 2012.

Peter Singer [2010] *Should This Be The Last Generation*? New York Times 6th June 2010 Opinionator http://www.opinionator.blogs.nytimes.com.2010/06/06/should_this_be_the_last_genera tion?hp Retrieved 22nd December 2012.

Arthur Schopenhauer [1966] *The World as Will and Representation* [Trans.] E.F.J. Payne E. F. J. Payne. London, Dover, pp349 and 605.

3. Humans should value of their own lives less for the greater value of other beings. ⁵⁷

In his *New York Times* article, Singer mentions David Benatar, another pessimist who wrote a book titled *Better Never to Have Been: The Harm of Coming into Existence*. This too is an example of dark rhetoric from someone who basically argues that by not coming into the world one need not experience or cause any harm.⁵⁸ Again, the proposition of putting nature before humans is absolute and inherently dangerous because should there be a natural catastrophe humans might then be prompted to take revenge. Of course this would not be rational, but it demonstrates the lack of logic in the post-human proposal.

Soil and Soul.

Death of the body and resurrection of the spirit are key theological teachings in the New Age and deep ecology paradigms. To this end E.F. Schumacher also connected nature to deep spiritual beliefs. He was moved by the esoteric teachings of John Bennett, who attempted to integrate scientific research with the philosophic and mystical ideas of G. I. Gurdjieff and his one-time pupil P. D. Ouspensky.⁵⁹ Bennett was born in London, England, educated at Kings College School, London; the Royal Military Academy Woolwich; the School of Military Engineering, Chatham; and the School of Oriental Studies, London. He

Peter Singer [2010] *Should This Be The Last Generation*? New York Times 6th June 2010 Opinionator http://www.opinionator.blogs.nytimes.com.2010/06/06/should_this_be_the_last_genera tion?hp Retrieved 22nd December 2012.

David Benatar [2006] *Better Never To Have Been: The Harm of Coming Into Existence.* N.Y USA. Oxford University Press.

The Gurdjieff Club www.gurdjieffclub.ru/?id=933 Retrieved 20th February, 2012.

was also a Fellow of the Institute of Fuel in London and a highly influential figure in politics. ⁶⁰

It was not unusual to find prominent public figures connected with the occult and Bennett was one of the early instigators of the New Age philosophy. In 1956, Bennett was introduced to Subud a spiritual movement originating in Java and connected to the Jains of India. In 1963, Bennett launched the journal, *Systematics*, which was designed to spread his ideas and analytical methods for examining the laws governing phylogenies [the study of higher organisms]. The journal ran for 11 years.

Bennett's taxonomies have remained strong in the cohort of Schumacher's followers and make up a large body of deep ecology's belief systems. Today, Schumacher is best known for the private collage in Totnes, England named after him. Schumacher College specializes in ecology, spirituality and alternative technologies. The lecturers are not just lay preachers they have links to some of the world's leading institutions, which is indicative of the way deep ecology is spreading and gaining authenticity. The Transitions Movement [or Transition Towns] connects with the Schumacher College through various teaching modules and planning events such as the World Café. Both organizations link to the neo-liberal conservative think-tank called the *New Economics Foundation*.

John G. Bennett - Wikipedia, the free encyclopaedia www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/John_G._Bennett Retrieved 2nd January, 2013.

Rob Hopkins [2004] *Transition Handbook*, Dartington, Totness, Green Books Ltd., p179.

Subversive Education.

Ivan Illich's *Deschooling Society* is typical of the quasi-anarchist's educational reforms that are based on deep ecology. Illich gave impetus to the Small Schools Movement, which bodes with the ideas of E.F. Schumacher's Small is Beautiful and the Anthroposophical education of Rudolf Steiner. The historian Anna Bramwell noted how Illich's criticisms of society [and reinterpretations of Rousseau] were carefully packaged so the media could present them as uncritical. Illich rarely referred to individuals rather he preferred to target the structures and institutions. Illich's 1971 work analyzed the service institutions, where 'the client is made addictive of ... consumerism. 62 Illich sees consumerism as 'an artificial stimulation of dissatisfaction with what has already been consumed.' These ideas are rooted in two primary sources, religion and the social movements. ⁶³ Eastern and New Age religions suggest that materialism intervenes in the processes of attaining higher consciousness. For the social movements materialism is a class issue that highlights the disparities between rich and poor. Psychologically materialism equates with self-consciousness which is important for personal development and self-actualization; both are required for effective individual achievement. However, balance is needed.

Illich's ideas on education and society were succeeded by the ecologist the Reverend John Papworth, a self-proclaimed 'futurist' and Church of England priest. He was under license to officiate from the Bishop of London until his activism included endorsement of shoplifting in the big stores. Subsequently, he was sacked from his non-stipendiary position. Papworth claimed he was concerned with the way the giant businesses were destroying local community

63 Ibid.

Anna Bramwell [1994] *The Fading of the Greens: The Decline of Environment Politics in the West.* New Haven, Yale University Press, p62.

life... His excuse was, 'Jesus taught we should love our neighbors' seemingly this did not include loving the big stores. Papworth together with E.F. Schumacher and Sir Herbert Read founded and edited *Resurgence* magazine [now edited by Satish Kumar]. ⁶⁴ Satish Kumar is an Indian activist who spent time as a Jain monk. He is the founder and Director of Programs at the Schumacher College, the private institution for ecological studies in Totnes, England. Kumar insists that reverence for nature should be at the heart of every political and social debate, but his goals have been considered largely unrealistic. In response to criticism Kumar has said,

Look at what realists have done for us. They have led us to war and climate change, poverty on an unimaginable scale, and wholesale ecological destruction. Half of humanity goes to bed hungry because of all the realistic leaders in the world. I tell people who call me 'unrealistic' to show me what their realism has done. Realism is an outdated, overplayed and wholly exaggerated concept. ⁶⁵

Well, no! 'Half of humanity' does not 'go to bed hungry because of realistic leaders.' Rather, the problems are a little more complex and involve corrupt governments, greedy corporations, wars and bad policy.

John Papworth - Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia en.wikipedia.org/wiki/John_Papworth. Retrieved 22nd December, 2012.

Satish Kumar - Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia *en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Satish_Kumar* Retrieved 22nd December, 2012.

4. THE IMAGINED TRANSITION.

In recent years world governments have been concerned about global warming and the accompanying climatic changes. These have been blamed on human activity, in particular the burning of fossil fuels needed to drive industry and modern consumer capitalism. In the 1990s the answer to the climate change problems came in the form of green capitalism. It was officially mooted by former United States President Bill Clinton in a 1992 speech commemorating Earth Day. Clinton urged Americans to reject the idea that environmental responsibility had to come at the expense of the capitalist economy. Clinton said, 'it was possible to bring powerful market forces to bear on America's pollution problems'. 66

I believe it is time for a new era in environmental protection... which uses the market to help us get our environment back on track—to recognize that Adam Smith's invisible hand can have a green thumb. ⁶⁷

The solution for Clinton was a new focus on local markets. In 2001 George W. Bush took over the Presidency from Clinton with a pro-industry, pro-war agenda. By 2004 the mainstream environment movement was in crisis after Shellenberger and Nordhaus published their essay *The Death of Environmentalism* in which they asserted that environmentalists had failed to make any impact on the world's most important issue, climate change. In their

Ted Steinberg [2012] Origins of Green Capitalism. This article was originally published in Radical History Review 107 [Spring 2010], and was re-posted on Climate and Capitalism 27th March 2012 www.climateandcapitalism.com Retrieved 28th March 2012.

B. Clinton [1992] *Text of Clinton Speech on Environment, U.S. Newswire*, April 22, 1992. In Steinberg Ted [2012] Retrieved 28th March 2012.

following work *Breakthrough* they argued that environmentalism is a 1960s phenomenon brought about by affluence not the need to address the past scarcity of the 1930s and for this reason, a 'pro-growth agenda' could solve environmental problems.⁶⁸ Bill McKibben, one of the world's most prominent environmentalists agreed.⁶⁹ McKibben argued for the need to focus on small communities and local produce. These would be centered on farmers' markets and small cottage industries, arts, community gatherings and the rest... There were to be no structural changes to the capitalist system. McKibben did not tamper with capitalism or its impacts on the environment, because he argued 'markets are powerful' and 'we cannot wait for structural change'. Hitherto, the 2004 collapse of mainstream environmentalism gave rise to a new depoliticized Transitions Movement with its focus on localization and green market perspectives that were based on deep ecology and local consumer spending. Two key conditions came together for the benefit of deep ecology, the failure of major social movements and government failure to address climate change fears.

Bioregionalism.

The Transition Movement emerged in Great Britain at a time of significant social and economic unrest which threatened the conservative and middle class balance of power. For the poor in Britain the cost of living had risen to make a properly balanced diet prohibitive, education levels had dropped and there was a gross shortage of housing. The pension age had gone up to 67 years, while the

Ted Nordhaus and Michael Shellenberger [2007] *Break Through: From the Death of Environmentalism to the Politics of Possibility*, Boston: Houghton Mifflin, p8.

Bill McKibben [2007] *Deep Economy: The Wealth of Communities and the Durable Future*, N. Y. Times Books, 2007, p 105. Also Bill McKibben, *The Greenback Effect: Greed Has Helped Destroy the Planet—Maybe Now It Can Help Save It, Mother Jones*, May/June 2008, pp42, 45.

⁷⁰ Ibid.

level of male life expectancy in one Scottish location was 54 years; in another it was 67 years.⁷¹ Effectively, the British working classes were paying into a national pension fund they might never benefit from.

The new green economy seemed to be a way of doing things differently, but the moral assertions that have accompanied the green model flow into complex areas, for example the problems of waste management which leads to environmental campaigns for recycling and lucrative commercial enterprises that cause further disparities. Some of these campaigns have come at a terrible cost to the poor and disadvantaged. When British television personality Kevin McCloud visited India's Dharavi rubbish dumps he was shocked. McCloud, having heard that architects, planners and even Prince Charles were claiming that Dharavi could solve the world's waste problems McCloud took a journey to India to see for himself. With a million people crammed into one square mile, Dharavi is one of the most densely populated slums on earth. When McCloud entered Dharavi he was confronted with open sewers, rats and hazardous chemicals flowing freely and the poor, including children, sifting through the filth to source re-usable parts for industries with some of the recycled materials going into eco-housing. 72

The Regions.

Everyone wants the modern western style of living, but not every can enjoy the same benefits. The poor then become a blot on the landscape. The answer to unsightly social problems has been distance. Everywhere in the world the

_

UK Guardian [2006] *Life expectancy is 67: Minutes from Glasgow City Centre its 54.* http://www.guardian.co.uk/society/2006/jan/21.health.politics Retrieved 2nd October, 2011.

Daniel Benson [2012] *Dharavi, Mumbai: The Pros and Cons of Slum Living* www.danielbenson.hubpages.com Retrieved 6th April, 2012.

poor are being shunted off their lands and into the regions often without infrastructure and services; bioregionalism is then given the illusion of respectability because people hear about it, but rarely get to visit unless the region becomes prosperous. It is no coincidence that by the 1980s a myriad of literatures began appearing in bookshops on home grown vegetables, cottage industries and bioregionalism. This coincided with western government structural changes that included the devolution of the welfare state and the revitalization of a civil society to boost small, locally owned businesses. Bioregionalism would become the agenda supplanting much of the postmodern, global and multicultural discourse. It would see workers clearly segregated into the management and service categories with jobs gradually eroding because the regions would never compete with globalization and cheap labor.

Bioregionalism does not tamper with global capitalism; it merely shifts public attention away from it and allows for business as usual elsewhere. Bioregionalism heralds the notion of constrained economic changes and cuts to the welfare economy, which in turn impacts on the vulnerable. Most of the world's underprivileged people live in the regions; many are dependent on the land. This is not a lifestyle of romanticism, but one of extreme hard labor, few resources and little reward.

Bioregionalism has always been a major factor in environmental thought and deep ecology. It is based on the idea that 'we can do better' which also requires a certain amount of confidence and planning.⁷³ Many new bioregional centers have simply been dumping grounds for single mothers, the disabled and the working poor. Bioregionalism is based on two concepts the first is that the earth is divided up into natural eco-regions. The second is these can be further broken down into smaller units which are all naturally self-contained

-

⁷³ 'We can do better' www.wecandobetter.net Offline at the time of writing.

geographical and biological units. The theory is if these units are left to evolve organically they will become self-regulating and create the maximum biological diversity. The idea dates back to Frederic E. Clements an American plant ecologist who studied vegetation succession. Clements suggested that the development of vegetation could be understood as a sequence of stages resembling the development of an individual organism. After a complete or partial disturbance, vegetation grows back, matures and reaches a 'climax state'. It must though, be suited to its appropriated conditions. ⁷⁵

In reality, bioregionalism is a white, middle class Eurocentric idea that does not account for varying landscapes or the accepted boom and bust cycles of late capitalism. Bioregionalism is a form of social engineering that assumes resilience as well as a certain level of population, but what happens when that level is exceeded? Bioregionalism is not a harmonizing idyllic way of life, it is a way of minimizing the capacities of the dissenting social movements, forgetting that social movements can also become [bio] regional. ⁷⁶

-

Anna Bramwell, [1994] *The Fading of the Greens: The decline of Environmental Politics in the West.* New Haven, N.Y. State University Press, pp 50-52.

Frederic Clements - Wikipedia free encyclopedia http://www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Frederic_Clements Retrieved 20th December, 2012.

Anna Bramwell, [1994] *The Fading of the Greens: The decline of Environmental Politics in the West.* New Haven, N.Y. State University Press, pp 50-52.

5. LIVING BY DEFAULT.

Deep ecology arose from the failure of green liberalism in the 1990s as well as the failure of 1970s mainstream liberalism, which, in the United States under Richard Nixon's Presidency was choked in scandal and eventually collapsed. Noam Chomsky referred to Nixon as the last liberal president.⁷⁷ American liberalism was always fraught with the contradictions between a public perception of inalienable rights and the realities of racial discrimination, patriarchy, slavery and exploitation. In the 1960s many of the old liberal quarrels re-surfaced in the Civil Rights Movement. What followed were the protests of feminists, the gay rights movement and the anti-war campaigners. This was followed by the counter revolt that saw the rise of the neoconservatives led by prominent Evangelicals who already had leverage into a nationalist land movement. In the late 19th century a pioneering American environmentalist named Madison Grant had called for the protection of the white race along with protection for the environment. 'The preservation of raw nature in this discourse came to symbolize escape from the pollution of fastgrowing poly-cultural urban areas'. 78 More recently, Kevin B. MacDonald, a professor of psychology at California State University, Long Beach, best known for his use of evolutionary psychology to support anti-Semitism, argued that Jews conspired to undermine white confidence and damage Americans and the environment.⁷⁹ Tom Metzger's neo-Nazi White Aryan Resistance Movement [WAR] also blamed Jews, blacks and immigrants for the continued destruction

Noam Chomsky. [2000] *The Colombia Plan:* April 2000. Chomsky.info. http://www.chomsky.info/articles/200006--.htm. Retrieved 11th March 2012.

Jonathon Olsen [1999] *Nature and Nationalism: Right-Wing Ecology and the Politics of Identity in Contemporary Germany.* St. Martins Press, N. Y. July 1999.

Kevin MacDonald http://www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Kevin_B._MacDonald Retrieved 25th March 2012.

of the American lands. In 'Wars' publications, Metzger argued that the science of ecology shows human beings to be an integral part of nature therefore each native species has its own ecological niche. Notwithstanding, many of the deep ecology programs have appropriated the Aboriginal and ethnic cultures in order to appear [w]holistic and earth centered. The New Age gurus have made millions of dollars from the traditions and rituals while the Aborigines and others have rarely been compensated.

Changing Human Perceptions.

On the 3rd August, 2012 the online academic journal titled *The Conversation* published an article headed: *Why we need to forget about the environment*, by Fern Wickson, a researcher at *GenØk - Centre for Biosafety*. ⁸⁰ The writer argued that there are two main problems with environment protection, 'the concept of the environment' and the idea that it is something we should 'protect'. Wickson suggested 'the term 'the environment' gives the impression of an identifiable thing that exists separate and distinct from ourselves; something that surrounds us, something that we use, but something that always remains an 'other''. ⁸¹ Therefore, environmentalism according to Wickson is seriously flawed. Wickson's deep ecology argument highlights a duality between humans and the environment, which she sees as problematic. Hence, she aims to circumvent the schism with a proposed unity, a [w]holistic relation, the small socially constructed humanity fully encapsulated into the larger magnanimous natural world, in other words a humanity that simply disappears.

Fern Wickson [2012] Why we need to forget about the environmentalism. GenØk - Centre for Biosafety. The Conversation, 30 August 2012. http://www.theconversation.org Retrieved 30th August, 2012.

⁸¹ Ibid.

Fern Wickson, like other ecologists of her ilk, has offered a compelling case for [w]holeness by asking readers to draw on the most recent research from the human microbiome project, which refers to all the micro-organisms that live on and in the human body [including bacteria, fungi and viruses]; this view, Wickson contends provides a different and totally integrated perspective of ourselves and the world.

Within our bodies, microbial cells outnumber our cells by an astonishing 10-1. The makeup of these microbial communities is not only unique to individuals, it is also constantly changing as different organisms enter and leave our bodies. The fascinating thing here is that these microorganisms are not simply passengers or parasites. Many of them are performing functions essential to our health and wellbeing.⁸²

The problem is this, what we call the 'natural' microbiological world and what we understand to be the social, emotional, cognitive, human being are not the same thing. It is now commonly accepted that the microbial world is influential, but we are also influenced by social conditioning and the ratio of nature to culture is said to be about fifty-fifty.

Behavioral Ecology.

What lies behind the shift towards an earth centered approach is the desire to change human perceptions, not for the benefit of the planet, but for the sheer subservience it bestows on the masses. Behavioral ecology is deeply involved in the quest to bring about a theological/spiritual unification and it harks back to Romanticism. More recently, the studies of Edward O. Wilson and *Consilience*,

82

Ibid

otherwise known as 'biologism' have won the deep ecologists' appeal. Wilson's book Sociobiology, The New Synthesis was first published in the mid 1970s and it became highly controversial for its biological determinism. Sociobiologists believe that all behavior, human and non-human, can be partly In order to understand this explained as the outcome of natural selection. behavior sociobiologists insist that data must be analyzed in terms of evolution. To this end practitioners advocate various forms of testing that include hereditary factors and facial symmetry.⁸³ When Wilson's book first appeared it outraged a number of scientists and professionals who formed groups and wrote letters to newspapers and politicians in protest. They compared Wilson's ideas to previous claims that 'genetic theory and data can explain the origin of certain social problems.' For example, 'those used by eugenicists such as Charles Davenport in the early twentieth century' whereby all forms of 'deviant' behavior, criminality and alcoholism,' were considered to be genetically based.84

Darwin's theories of natural selection were composed more than 125 years ago and it was Herbert Spencer who highlighted the primacy of natural selection and first used the phrase 'survival of the fittest'. Zoologist Konrad Lorenz studied the animal world and specialized in aggressive behavior and Robert Ardrey focused on survival techniques and social organization. These ideas culminated in Social Darwinism and the heinous crimes that have since been well documented. Social Darwinism, although we rarely recognize it, still provides the moral justification for rejecting claims of equality and social justice. Both Rockefeller and Carnegie believed in social Darwinism. This

_

Leigh W. Simmons, Gillian Rhodes, Marianne Peters, Nicole Koehler [2004] *Are human preferences for facial symmetry focused on signals of developmental instability?* Behavioral Ecology [2004] 15 [5] 864-871.

⁸⁴ Ibid

facilitated the 'scientific' rationale for their greed and ambition. Rockefeller wrote:

The growth of large business is merely a survival of the fittest... the rose can be produced in splendor and fragrance which brings cheer to its beholder only by sacrificing the early buds which grow up around it. This is not an evil tendency in business. It is merely the working out of the law of nature and the law of God. ⁸⁵

Genetic information has played a significant role in the development of social and political policy and its use has always been timely. E. O. Wilson for example, elaborated on the characteristics of the dominant male at the height of second wave feminism. Wilson suggested that each discipline will eventually become integrated. Hence, sociobiology's purpose is to enact this transition of blending the social sciences and humanities into alignment with a neo-Darwinian paradigm, which explains everything in terms of their changing relation to the population and its genetics.

Despite the past controversies Wilson's sociobiology, as he predicted, has gained a lot of currency through the growth of the deep ecology movements. Sociobiology is now part of the core research curriculum in science education and virtually all biology departments hold to its principles. It is also the foundation theory against which almost all field biology is carried out. Sociobiological research on non-human organisms has been given immense prominence in the world's top scientific journals and text books generating huge respect and adulations. We hear very little about sociobiology by name for the simple reason that in the 1970s sociobiology changed its name to 'behavioral

_

J.D. Rockerfeller [2012] Wiki.answers.com http://wiki.answers.com/Q/Did_JD_Rockefeller_like_social_darwinism#ixzz255IlMpY y Retrieved 30th August, 2012.

ecology' in order to avoid further public outrage. What needs to be remembered is these theories have provided an important basis for the corrective education of the dissident classes as well as the enactment of sterilization laws and restrictive immigration laws in Britain, Australia and the United States. Historically, many powerful nations and corporations have drawn on scientific determinism for the maintenance of power. In the period between 1910 and 1930 there was strong engagement in eugenics policies which led to the establishment of Heimatschutz, the Third Reich and the Nazi death camps.

Humanity and Earth

In his 1913 essay *Man and Earth*, one of Germany's most influential ecologists and philosopher Ludwig Klages campaigned against the extinction of species, deforestation, destruction of the habitats of animals and indigenous people. He also campaigned against urban expansion and increasing consumption, claiming that it caused the alienation of man from nature. Almost a hundred years later, the German Greens expressed the same views. *Man and Earth* was republished in 1980 to coincide with the founding of the German Greens Party. However, Ludwig Klages was an opponent of rational thought and a fanatical anti-Semite who 'paved the way for a fascist philosophy.' ⁸⁷ That he should be remembered as a hero is outrageous.

Undoubtedly, the desire to make life small, simple and local has wider implications. The small and beautiful discourse appeals to the *Right Wing* neoconservatives because it includes population controls, puts limits on

8

Edward H. Hagen [2005] *The Handbook of Evolutionary Psychology*, [Ed.] David M. Buss, N.Y. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Chapter 5.

Walter Laqueur [1962] Young Germany: A History of the German Youth Movement, London, N.Y. Basic Books. p. 34.

immigration and impacts on the rights of workers. It appeals to the *Left* because it implies a new movement for the underclass; but it does little for social justice. Localization gives impetus to closed borders and protectionism, which in the view of analysts Dieter Rucht and Friedheim Neidhardt can replicate certain milieus that were common in the traditional family system. Rucht and Neidhardt suggest that 'to the extent that the nuclear family degenerates the social movement would be fulfilled'. 88 There is an obvious inter-connectedness between the family and the nation state as there is between the family and ecology. Family hierarchy, in and of itself, contains evolutionary justification for class and racial components. 89/90/91 Further, combined in the family structures are the symbolic potencies that hide individual oppression and subvert dissidence. Similarly, social movements often see themselves as a Social theorist Phil Cohen highlights the contradictions 'potent' family. between the 'symbolic potency' and 'real powerlessness' of people in the social movements in Britain where minority groups are locked into 'structural unemployment, the casual labor market and the hidden economy of drugs and petty crime'. 92 Social commentator Tamara L. Mix has also suggested that separatist movements albeit 'fringe movements often move to legitimize claims

Dieter Rucht and Friedheim Neidhardt [2002] *Towards a Movement Society*, in *Social Movement Studies*. Vol. 1 No. 1.

Frank. Uekötter, [2006]. *The Green and the Brown: History of Conservation in Nazi Germany*. N. Y. Cambridge University Press.

Jonathan. Olsen, [1999]. *Nature and Nationalism: Right-wing Ecology and the Politics of Identity in Contemporary Germany*. N. Y. St. Martin's Press.

William T. Markham, [2007]. *Nature Protection in Germany: Persistence and Change in a Turbulent Century*. pp. 87–116 in *Protecting Nature: Organizations and Net-works in Europe and the USA*, [Eds.] C. S. A. van Koppen and William T. Markham. Northampton, M.A and Edward Elgar.

Phil Cohen [1997] *The Same Old Generation Game*. CJM 28 pp8-9.

by using mainstream issues loosely related to central movement goals'. She notes that while, 'considered extremist in their ideologies and actions', the ultimate aim is to 'appear legitimate and belonging to the mainstream'. Nothing could be more 'mainstream' than the notion of family or community, even if it turns out to be backward and/or oppressive.

Cultural Shifts.

The implications of cultural shifts happen over time and are easily missed. The writer Jonathon Olsen has noted how white supremacists have hidden behind the non-political environmentalists while evidence shows this to be a growing trend it goes unnoticed. The appropriation of political strategies and issues from one group by another is not unusual in the 1970s the American far *Right* increased its popularity by hijacking the anti-pornography lobby from radical feminists. Disparate groups often share common interests, but not necessarily a common purpose.

The social movement theorist Alain Touraine [2002] believed there are vast differences in the aims of changing the social 'type' to creating a real historical change. ⁹⁶ The social 'type' leads to the formation of cultural and affinity groups which are largely 'ego-centered' and based on the individual's

L.Tamara Mix [2009] The Greening of White Separatism: Use of Environmental Themes www.ingentaconnect.com/content/berghahn/natcult/2009/.../art00003

⁹⁴ Ibid: See also Michael Barkun [1998]. Conspiracy Theories as Stigmatized Knowledge: The Basis for a New Age Racism? pp. 58–72 in Nation and Race: The Developing Euro-American Racist Subculture. [Eds.] Jeffrey Kaplan and Tore Bjorgo. Boston, Northeastern University Press.

Jonathon Olsen [1999] *Nature and Nationalism: Right-wing Ecology and the Politics of Identity in Contemporary Germany.* N. Y. St. Martin's Press.

Alain Touraine [2002] *The Importance of Social Movements, Social Movement Studies*, Vol. 1. No 1 2002.

social networks.⁹⁷ They can include all political views as long as members adhere to the groups' core interests.

Further, the salient group can easily become the dominant order. In Britain the workers movement was infiltrated and finally overridden by neo-nationalist groups, as it was in Germany in the 1930s. Touraine noted how, over time, organization members become enlisted as 'core members' of emerging groups while some remain peripheral members. Mobilization then involves the marginalization of some people and the creation of an exclusive power yielding centre which takes the group to its heights and imposes its authority. ⁹⁸

The formula, now called localization, has become inherent in a deep ecology that is fast overriding reform environmentalism. It has appealed to a number of western nations such as the United States, Australia and New Zealand because the 'small' and the 'local' are perceived as benign and non-threatening. Political power resides in this illusion.

Objectivism and Behavioral Ecology.

The Russian-American philosopher Ayn Rand [1905-1982] had a profound influence on social and behavioral ecology. Rand believed that human beings have direct contact with reality through their senses using concept formation and inductive logic. Rand also believed that the proper moral purpose of one's life is rational self-interest and the pursuit of one's own satisfaction and complete happiness. Rand viewed the only social system consistent with this idea as that

Alain Touraine [2002] *The Importance of Social Movements* in Social Movement Studies. Vol. 1. No 1 2002.

Kathryn Ray, Mike Savage, Gindo Tampubolon, Alan Warde, Brian Longhurst and Mark Tomlinson [2003] *The Exclusiveness of the Political Field: Networks and Political Mobilization* in Social Movement Studies Vol. 2. 1 p40.

⁹⁸ Ibid

embodied in *laissez faire* capitalism. ¹⁰⁰ Rand wrote her ideas in novels that included *The Fountainhead*; *Atlas Shrugged* and the non-fiction works *Introduction to Objectivist, Epistemology* and *The Virtue of Selfishness*. In the 1950s Rand gathered a group of highly influential people around her in support of her objectivist philosophy. These people saw themselves as a prototype for a future society where everyone could follow their own dreams without being condemned as hedonists, narcissistic or selfish. Rand extolled the idea of total freedom through a self-regulating system. She believed in almost zero government and she considered altruism a weakness. ¹⁰¹

Silicon Valley.

At about the same time as Rand was writing her ideas another initiative was gathering attention with the rise of computer technologies in California's Silicon Valley. Many of the digital entrepreneurs were in awe of Rand's ideas. Rand and her cohorts thought the new computer networks would be the perfect avenue for creating a new society. They thought computers would allow people to be totally self-determined without the pitfalls of politics and a revolutionary onslaught that might give impetus to radical street demonstrations, violence and anarchy. Objectivists believed they could transition society without damaging property and the capitalist economy.

One of the objectivist's most important members was the young Alan Greenspan. The same Alan Greenspan who became the chairman of the United

Indymedia Australia [2012] *Trans-Pacific Partnership Trades Pact would allow national laws to be over ruled by corporations* 2nd August. 2012 www.indymedia.org.au/ Retrieved 5th August, 2012.

Adam Curtis [2011] *All watched over by machines of loving grace* SBS [October, [three episodes] Tuesdays on SBS TV, 8.30.pm www.sbs.com.au/documentary/program/allwatchedoverbymachinesoflovinggrace Retrieved 28th October, 2011.

States Federal Reserve and whose policies gave significant impetus to the 2008 global financial crisis. ¹⁰²

Computer Driven Worlds.

Greenspan touted the idea that markets could be applied to every aspect of the life-world and nothing could go wrong because computers would automatically diagnose and fix the problems. All the information involved in running the world economies would flow freely on the Internet's super highway. In the event of this newly envisioned system working the old hierarchies and leaders would become increasingly obsolete [made invisible].

Ayn Rand became the darling of conservatives and today her ideas have been resurrected by the American *Right Wing* movements. Ayn Rand's biographer Jennifer Burns has referred to Rand's objectivism as 'the ultimate gateway drug to life on the *Right*'. ¹⁰³ Rand has had continuing influence on the affairs of state and her legacy lives on in forms of deep ecology.

Ecological Objectivism.

Ayn Rand's ideas became coupled with those of ecologist Arthur Tansley who had an interest in the works of Sigmund Freud's psychoanalysis and the innate theories. Tansley saw Freud's mind as a kind of electrical circuit and from it he produced a mind model based on nature's ecosystem. Tansley then drew a connection between his model and the ideas of objectivism. What Tansley saw was the likeness between the ecosystem and Rand's mechanical markets. The model Tansley devised involved applying the schemata of the

1

102 Ibid.

Alternet; Review of Ayn Rand's biography. *Goddess of the Market: Ayn Rand and the American Right.* Author Jennifer Burns. In *The Truth about GOP hero Ayn Rand.* http://alternet.org/culture/150680 Retrieved 26th October, 2011.

mind to the whole of nature's energy flows in a continual loop, called a feedback loop. Feedback is a mechanism, or signal that is looped back to control a system within itself.

When applied to the social world the ecology feedback presents a number of problems and it does not go uncontested. The ecologist Peder Ranker has argued that the scientific idea of nature as a self-regulating system is really a 'machine fantasy' and has little to do with the real complexity of nature. Film maker Adam Curtis claimed that behind the notion of a self-regulation system is a mechanistic theory of order that has humans as components in the machine. This in turn makes earth a self-regulating mechanical planet suspended in self-regulating universal energies and circuits. The idea bodes with James Lovelock's mystical Gaia theory, which sees earth as basically self-regulating and repairable regardless of what is done to it. ¹⁰⁴

The 1960s Systems Theory.

The idea of self-regulating systems emerged during the Cultural Revolution of the 1960s when computer scientists believed that liberation could rest on cybernetics and systems dynamics. System dynamics was created during the mid-1950s by Professor Jay W. Forrester of the Massachusetts Institute of Technology [MIT]. Forrester hailed from an engineering background and had specialized knowledge of electrical systems. He applied his knowledge to the field of human socialization, which he preferred to call 'systems'. Forrester conducted experimental studies of organizational policy

_

Peder Ranker [2011] www.pederanker.com Retrieved 27th October, 2011 and Curtis Adam [2011] *All watched over by machines of loving grace* SBS [October, [three episodes] Tuesdays on SBS TV, 8.30.pm. www.sbs.com.au/documentary/program/allwatchedoverbymachinesoflovinggrace Retrieved 28th October, 2011.

using computer simulations to understand and predict social order.¹⁰⁵ Around the 1960s Forrester's systems theories spread from ecology and electronics to a general social theory. Later ecology came to define a system of economics based on the same notions of energy feedback.

The combination of ecology and economics appears in the work of Kenneth Boulding and Herman Daly. Boulding's evolutionary perspective was couched in a term he borrowed from Vladimir Vernadsky [1926], the 'Noosphere'. Teilhard de Chardin [1959] also used the term in his cosmology. Here the social and economic evolution becomes counterpart to the role of genetic information and DNA in the biological evolution; sometimes referred to simply as 'biologism'. ¹⁰⁶

Just as DNA provides the genetic know-how to produce a chicken from an egg, automotive engineers and their recording devices contain the know-how to produce an automobile. ¹⁰⁷

For Teilard de Chardin it was a theory of unification manifest in forms of spirituality and love. Chardin viewed the noosphere emerging as an extended concept of his *Law of Complexity*; this is the law describing the nature of evolution in the universe. Teilhard de Chardin argued that the noosphere grows towards a greater integration and unification, culminating in the 'Omega Point' or the apex of thought/consciousness. This he claimed is the goal of history.¹⁰⁸

Biography of Jay Forrester http://www.thocp.net/biographies/forrester_jay.html Retrieved 28th October, 2011.

K. Boulding [2011] at Wikipedia.Org. http://www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Kenneth_Boulding%27s_Evolutionary_Perspective Retrieved 28th October, 2011

¹⁰⁷ Ibid.

The Noosphere http://.www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Noosphere Retrieved 28th October, 2011.

New Age followers and deep ecologists, who hold Teilhard in great awe, refer to this as higher consciousness. It is a view that was popularized by Carl Jung who called it a 'collective consciousness' and attributed it to a genetic disposition. The Nazis also believed there was a genetically acquired form of consciousness that denoted superiority. The *Omega Files* was the name given to Nazi population controls, now the topic of a number of conspiracy theorists.

Henri Bergson in his *L'evolution Creatrice* [1907] contested Darwin's ideas of natural selection to suggest that there is a vital force which animates life and fundamentally connects mind and body. The idea stood in opposition to the traditional and religious dualism of Rene Descartes, who believed there was a separation between mind and body. Bergson's view brought together the natural ecosystems with the human impacts so it has become very popular with deep ecologists. However, Bergson's view does not explain the differences in human behavior, which are largely regulated by social conditioning. Bergson, the mind is an abstract phenomenon seated in the physical substrate of the brain, which is perceived capable of inducing a local entropic force that, when summoned among many individuals and minds simultaneously produces a distinctly more amplified 'noosphere'. 109 A more recent version of this idea was published in a work called The Intention Experiment: Using Your Thoughts to Change Your Life and the World by Lynne McTaggart. This work is typical of the New Age genre where the author uses quantum theories to argue that thoughts can change things around us because matter is not solid, but ephemeral. 110 It is true that everything contains the same atomic substances; but what lies beyond this, if anything; is yet to be proven.

-

¹⁰⁹ Ibid.

Lynne McTaggart [2007] The Intention Experiment: Using Your Thoughts to Change Your Life and the World, N. Y. Free Press.

The American New Age theorist Ken Wilber explored the spiritual noosphere in his work, *Sex, Ecology, Spirituality* [1995]. He argued the emergence of the noosphere creates the continued emergence of further evolutionary structures; a synthesis of all knowledge, being and personal growth. In his book *Eye to Eye* [1990] Wilber conceived the holographic brain, which he declared is able to manifest the higher transpersonal experiences. These experiences are called frequency realms or holographic blurring; they contain 'no space, no time, and no events'. Wilber put the discussion into a mystical context with an overall sequence of development that begins with nature, moves to humanity and then to divinity. He classified these stages as pre-personal, personal and transpersonal. ¹¹¹

Spaceship Earth and the New Tribalism.

In the 1960s the US Apollo mission beamed back pictures to NASA showing a vibrant blue earth against the black universe. The picture of earth as a mere mechanical object morphed into the vision of earth as a mechanical spaceship when in 1966 the American economist Kenneth Boulding published a book of essays titled *The Economics of the Coming Spaceship Earth*. In 1968 Buckminster Fuller released his book titled *Operating Manual for Spaceship Earth*. Both writers drew on the results of the Apollo mission. Fuller viewed the earth as a space vehicle flying through the universe with a finite amount of resources on board. The idea attracted the attention of Walt Disney and his entertainment industry who subsequently opened a centre called *Spaceship Earth*. At the time it was the ultimate vision of globalization, which had citizens in many western nations seeing themselves as citizens of the world not

¹¹¹ K. Wilber [1990] *Physics, Mysticism and the New Holographic Paradigm* in *Eye to Eye* [1990] Boulder Colorado, Shambhala Press pp147 and 218.

Buckminster Fuller [1968] *Operating Manual For Spaceship Earth* at http://www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Buckminster_Fuller Retrieved 29th October, 2001.

citizens of nations. Being a global citizen was something special and unprecedented. However, there was another side to this vision. The global utopia was at odds with an existent village tribalism being played out in forms of nationalism and xenophobia.¹¹³

Inherent in tribalism is the subordination of the individual to a higher authority for the unhindered functionality of the group, community or cult. Here the nuclear family gives way to a broader kinship. The writer Ethan Watters [2003] has described urban tribalism as a group of young people who have created communities out of friends and shared interests rather than creating formal communities from families. Urban tribalism in America has become the 'new family' for the under thirties. The writer Steve Redhead sees tribalism from a British perspective as a fluidity of positions where previously opposed sub-cultures can find shared interests. His example is the merger between football hooligans and New Age hippies. 115/116/117 Redhead's idea resonates with the 1920s scenario where the Germans merged the peasant and upper classes to create the Heimatschutz.

Tribalism has very close ties with deep ecology and in particular ecological economics. Ecological economics is different from neo-classical economics because the monetary system is embedded within an environmental system. Ecological economists argue that neo-classical economics has ignored the

Peter Ellyard [2001] *Ideas for the New Millennium*, Melbourne, Melbourne University Press p31.

Ethan Watters [2003] *Urban Tribes: Are Friends the New Family*? London, Bloomsbury.

S. Redhead [1993] *Rave off: Politics and Deviance in Contemporary Youth Culture*, Aldershot, Avebury, pp3-4.

M. Maffesoli [1996] *The Time of the Tribe*. London, Sage.

Paul Willis [1990] *Common Culture*. Milton Keynes. Open University Press, p158.

environment and this has contributed to environmental damage. Many of the key concepts for ecological economics have their roots in the writings of E.F. Schumacher's book *Small is Beautiful*: [1973]. This was followed by Herman Daly's Steady-State Economics [1977]. H.T. Odum also took an integrative approach to the economy of nature in his [1950] PhD thesis. Here Odum defined ecology as the study of large entities [ecosystems] that included human integration' 118. Hence, in the traditional role an ecologist would recognize and classify large cyclic ecosystems and humans would be classified the same way. Odum took this a step further and began making generalizations about ecosystems that embraced the whole world in a nature based ordering. Odum, a large entity such as earth constituted a revolving and stable cycle. This perceived stability led Odum to talk about the teleology of such systems. Odum then extended his ideas with the assertions that natural selection was more than empirical because it appeared to remain stable over time. 119 Hence, Odum added a metaphysical concept to natural ecological science. 120

In ecology economics the Cartesian 'I' is replaced by the environment and the subject becomes an entity in the biological reckoning. The term normally used to describe this is a de-centering of the subject. The argument for this displacement is that humans are too selfish to be at the centre of social and economic ordering so the focus needs to be elsewhere. However, unless humans are completely exterminated from the planet removing responsibility from humankind is not going to change behavior and produce a better world.

H.T. Odum [1950] *The Biogeochemistry of Strontium: With Discussion on the Ecological Integration of Elements*, A Dissertation presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Yale University in Candidacy for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy pp7, 10, 11.

¹¹⁹ Ibid.

Wikipedia.Org. http://www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Howard_T._Odum Retrieved 29th October, 2011.

Further, the deep ecology paradigm, like any other religion is just another form of domination. It is not the way to establish a responsible human relationship with nature. Indeed, the idea puts nature into the abstract position of a 'thinking being' in much the same way as religion attributes a human will to an invisible God. In other words deep ecology and its economics gives nature the rule of law and makes nature the sole inquisitor. This is the primal state; the minority tradition and in the modern context, the overarching vehicle of an authoritarian state. Put in religious terms earth becomes a deity. Historically, many deities have been viciously dislodged and replaced by incoming deities. Some of the greatest historic wars have been fought over the supremacy of deities.

The Spiritual Origins of Deep Ecology.

The term 'deep ecology' was made popular by the Norwegian philosopher, and 'mystical Buddhist', Arne Naess in 1973. Naess was strongly influenced by Spinoza and Ghandi and was the originator of a radical type of empirical semantics [the Oslo Group]. His major paper the *Shallow and the Deep* was presented at The World Future Research Conference in Bucharest and attracted little attention. Naess' paper was a critique of reform environmentalism, but he also believed that the science of ecology was shallow and meaningless as it looked at the world from a human perspective. Naess believed this was an error and he said that the human species has the same 'intrinsic value' as a bacterium or an earthworm. The deep ecology movement gathered momentum in the late 1970s, fuelled by the reform environmentalist's failures. Another very

Peter C.van Wyck [1997] *Primitives in the Wilderness: Ecology and the Missing Human Subject* N.Y. N.Y. State University Press, p34.

A. Næss [1989] Ecology, Community and Lifestyle: Outline of an Ecosophy Cambridge Cambridge University Press, p187.

important shift that contributed to the popularity of deep ecology was the Animal Liberation Movement pushed forward by the philosopher Peter Singer.

It is generally agreed within the environment movement that scientific ecology provides a real model of the world's biological operations as well as a prescriptive model of where humans sit in this order of things. However, 'as a theoretical apparatus, scientific ecology introduces no new epistemological rupture into the fabric of western thought.' While ecology appears to create an objective finality in science, Peter van Wyck suggests that 'as a prosthesis ecology gives environmentalism a very potent set of metaphors with which to talk about the world.' Over time this dialogue can become the normality.

Ecology's universal truth replicates the foundational Enlightenment project, the very system it opposes. Indeed, ecology's authority of sameness with science contains both a *presence* and *absence*, what Baudrillard describes as 'a king of tantalization of paratheory.' This makes nature more complex and humans even more alienated from the living environment.

Ecology and the Enlightenment: The Liberal View.

The ecology-economics paradigm has antecedents that can be traced back to early Romanticism. It was also a concept shared by some of the Enlightenment's political economists, in particular Thomas Malthus who deliberated over the pitfalls of increasing populations. By applying the insights of Adam Smith and David Ricardo, the British Liberal and *Utilitarian* John Stuart Mill also articulated a preference for a 'stationary state' economy. John Stuart Mill deployed the virtues of free trade, but he also believed that moral

125 Ibid and Jean Baudrillard [1975] *The Mirror of Production*. N.Y. Telos, p113.

Peter C.van Wyck [1997] *Primitives in the Wilderness: Ecology and the Missing Human Subject* N.Y: N.Y. State University Press, p48.

¹²⁴ Ibid pp48-49.

and intellectual improvements to civilization would only come about from a steady state economy and equilibrium in population. With this in mind, Mill was critical of some of Britain's Victorian economic policies that included excess and unlimited growth. 126 Mill connected his economic and population views to an acquired state of happiness. In his work Utilitarianism Mill explained his morality on happiness as 'self devotion.' 127 Mill's liberal brand of 'steady state' economy is also associated with a [w]holistic view of the world and the subject's place within the social as one of dependence. superimposed with a political and moral discourse on the separation of pleasures. The British philosopher Jeremy Bentham argued that all forms of happiness were equal, but Mill believed that intellectual and moral pleasures were superior to more physical pleasures. In this sense Mill deliberately separated the perceived higher middle class traits from the lower working class ones. Mill's argument was that the 'simple pleasures tended to be preferred by people who have no experience with high art', and are therefore not in a proper position to evaluate anything. 128 Mill espoused similar views in his work On Liberty which makes utility a natural relation to humanity 'as a progressive being'; this includes the development of rational capacities to achieve a 'higher mode of existence. 129

_

John Stuart Mill [1985] *On Liberty*, Penguin Classics, 2006 p120.

John Stuart Mill [1806-1873] *Utilitarianism* Chapter 2. http://www.ebooks.adelaide.edu.au/m/mill/john_stuart/m645u Retrieved 29th October, 2011.

¹²⁸ Ibid

John Stuart Mill [1806-1873] *On Liberty*. http://www.ebooks.adelaide.edu.au/m/mill/john_stuart/m6450 Retrieved 29th October, 2011.

6. RETREAT FROM PROTEST.

The retreat from protest to engagement with market forces became firmly established in the 1980s and it has gradually gathered strong endorsement from the mass environment populous. For example, in his book *Eco-Economy*, the Worldwatch Institute founder Lester Brown suggested the economists and ecologists should work together to estimate the costs of various economic activities on the environment. These costs could then be factored into the market costs of the product either by increased prices or taxes. A carbon tax, for instance, would supposedly discourage coal burning. Not so! A price on carbon has simply led to experimentation with new technologies that are equally polluting and unsustainable; for example extracting methane gas from extraordinary depths and converting it to oil, fertilizers and other products. These are the new green products designed to keep capitalism afloat, but they are hardly gentle on the earth or its people.

The issue of reducing carbon emissions into the atmosphere has superseded care for the environment because it fails to stop the escalation of minerals extractions on good food producing lands. A carbon tax does little except boost carbon markets; it benefits the financial investors not the planet or the poor. Nonetheless, people can be easily manipulated into seeing a barren landscape as beautiful; nature has become a social construct where the wasteland has been given its own form of 'purity'.

Linking capitalist enterprise to the beauty and abundance of nature is highly useful. The term 'nature' can mean many things. 'Nature' is a transcendental term in a material mask' it stands at the end of a potentially infinite series of other terms that collapse into it otherwise known as the metonymic list. ¹³¹

Lester Brown [2001] *Eco-Economy*. N.Y. Norton.

¹³¹ Ibid.

'Nature' is one of the most used words in the English language because everyone relates to it consciously and instinctually.

Herder's Nationalism.

The combination of politics and nature has a long history, but it was only after the proletarian revolutions of the nineteenth century that ordinary people came to understand the ideological connection between nature and nation or how this combination serves to damage people and the environment. the major influences on nationalism was Johann Gottfried von Herder [1744-1803]. Herder was a German philosopher, theologian, poet, and literary critic who devised a popular philosophy that would compete with a new school-based philosophy in the German-speaking world. The debate hinged on democratic freedoms, which included the question of whether ordinary people should be educated to hold moral views and judgments. Education and opinion was not a given right, especially for the working classes. Herder was very influenced by the works of Immanuel Kant and other Enlightenment writers who valued the rational approach to solving societal and religious problems. Herder moved beyond Kant and believed literature and culture had the best capacity for encouraging moral influence. Hence, not unlike Kant, he pre-empted an aesthetic form of capitalism. This idea gave rise to Herder's major publication of the Volkslieder [1774] which was a collection of popular songs. Herder's songs became encapsulated into the inauguration of the nation state and gave rise to the idea of national anthems. 133

Michael Forster [2008] 'Johann Gottfried von Herder', *The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy [Fall 2008 Edition]*, Edward N. Zalta [Ed.], URL = http://plato.stanford.edu/archives/fall2008/entries/herder/>. Retrieved 30th January, 2013.

¹³³ Ibid.

Music and song are powerful mediums for indoctrination. In this respect, Herder pre-dated Gustav Le Bon's studies of the mind. Herder's philosophy of the mind [1778] erased the division between the body and mind and gave preference to unification that included the senses and instincts. ¹³⁴ The trend of unleashing the human instincts for political change was then manifest more directly in the writings of the German historian Gottfried Gervinus who argued in 1852 that the political movements of his time were supported by the instincts of the masses. ¹³⁵ Music became a crucial component for expressing these instincts and they were believed to represent the will of the people, but what was ultimately put in place was a 'secularized theology with democracy as its liturgy'. Participation grew from a grass roots population and it would serve to objectify the power of a national state. As the historian George Mosse contended, nationalism was not polity it was political theology that was embedded into the culture and historical consciousness of a people who remembered the dead and glorified past heroes. ¹³⁶

The liberal habit of using the dead as exemplars of honor and bravery goes back to Rousseau's attempts at deepening the love for the fatherland. These cultural rituals involving land and love also bode with the ancient world and the worship of nature gods and goddesses. Freyjer the Goddess of Light was honored in the ancient pagan festival of the summer solstice which celebrated conquest over the winter darkness. In Norse Mythology Freyja, which means Lady, is the goddess associated with love, beauty, fertility, gold, war, and death. Goethe wrote poetry expressing his loving sentiments for Freyja.

¹³⁴ Ibid.

George L. Mosse [1976] *Mass Politics and the Political Liturgy of Nationalism* in *Nationalism: The Nature and evolution of an idea*, [Ed.] Eugene Kamenka, London, Edward Arnold, pp39-54.

¹³⁶ Ibid.

Oh! Thought the violet, were I,

If only for a little while,

Nature's sweetest flower yet,

Till my Beloved picked me, pressed

Me fainting, dying to her breast!

So I might lie,

There, for but an hour! 137

Goethe was renowned for his treatment of nature as lover a trend copied by a number of romantic poets and New Age cohorts. The New Age thinker Joanna Macy refers to planet earth as a 'lover'. Macy's work combines deep ecology, general systems theory, and the Buddhist teachings into a New Age discourse that is very popular with deep ecologists. However, the notion of earth as lover is a delusion. There is nothing more dispassionate than earth and/or nature.

The relation between myth and the eighteenth century Enlightenment is described in Horkheimer's and Adorno's *Dialectic of the Enlightenment* and it is a critical reminder that the Enlightenment movements foreground the ideals of deep ecology. When nature becomes the subject and the human becomes the object perceptions change and a new reality is created. Objectification puts individuals, concepts and life worlds on the outside of perceived normality. Peter van Wyck has argued that fear of the 'outside' is always stabilized by the function of myth. In the Enlightenment this is constantly repeated in the

J.W. Goethe [*The Violet*] www.Poetrytranslation.com Retrieved 12th November 2012

Joanna Macy [1991] World As Lover World As Self. Berkeley, CA.

Peter C. van Wyck [1997] *Primitives in the Wilderness: Deep Ecology and the Missing Human Subject.* N.Y. State University Press, p64.

'quantification and abstraction' of the 'outside' or 'Other' that cannot be tolerated and/or no longer exists... Positivism with its reference to nature stands as emblematic of this 'taboo of the outside' and is an integral feature of the Enlightenment and anti-Enlightenment; two sides of the same coin. ¹⁴⁰ Although the philosophy of positivism has been condemned for its elitism, it has been revived in deep ecology along with a localized cultural relativity, but justice cannot be measured by cultural relativity.

Hence, the deep ecological proposition that creates an imagined freedom also creates alienation and totality, namely the re-enchantment of the world as myth and mystery that goes back to the minority traditions. Deep ecology promises a more moral [w]holistic way, but it locks humanity into an ever present state of blindness, powerlessness and inertia.

_

¹⁴⁰ Ibid p 63.

¹⁴¹ Ibid.

7. THE APOCALYPTIC DISCOURSE.

The major aim of deep ecology is to change peoples' behavior by ignoring the big political problems and reflecting achievements on the satisfaction of However, these aims rest on a number of fallacious personal inner needs. assumptions. The first assumption is that the human's inner needs can be defined in advance of actions. 142 The second is that inner needs can lead to optimum achievement. A third is that one size fits all.

The view offered by the transitions guru Richard Heinberg for instance paints a gloomy picture of slowed growth that will cause losses to essential services. He argues education, health and social programs will be diminished. There will be more wars and an arms race, especially in Africa and the Middle East. Infrastructure will be undermined by constant ecological disasters and this will cause further losses and devastation. Heinberg suggests that communities should prepare for the coming apocalypse.

These situations that Heinberg describes, and others like them are overtly political, but Heinberg avoids is any discussion on politics. Heinberg's advocacy of a steady-state local economy fails to address any of the social concerns inherent in modern capitalism other than consumer growth and his solutions do not tamper with the existent exploitation of free markets. No growth together with free market capitalism is an oxymoron. In fact the green economy, otherwise called the New Green Deal was designed to kick start consumption. The New Green Deal replicates Theodore Roosevelt's New Deal that arrived as a panacea for ending the 1920s American Depression. It pushed America into a global War for the sole purpose of an economic recovery. America has lived on a war economy ever since. The reality is the most

¹⁴² Miller A [2010] In *Psychology of Happiness*. [Eds.] Anna Makinen and Paul Hajek. New York, Nova Science Publishers Inc., p 1.

devastating impacts on the environment [and people] are caused by wars and all other efforts to curb pollution and stop global warming pale against the proliferation of wars. Deep ecologists and others who ignore these wars cannot call themselves true environmentalists.

In addition, many of the philosophies that are meant to espouse ecological and spiritual values serve to exploit people and the natural resources. The New Age trends of collecting crystals are especially exploitative. These crystals are generally sourced from under-developed countries using cheap labor and poor safety standards. Moreover, the recovery of crystals contributes to the earth's ongoing degradation. New Age and department stores display a wide range of similar artifacts that do not meet the standards of global fair trading. Localization will not stop this it will merely hide the abuses.

The 1960s gave rise to a wave of green apocalyptic discourses and esoteric teachings. Some have embraced the eastern mythologies; others have taken on Wiccan beliefs where followers have formed groups who call themselves pagans. In the 1970s Otter Zell, High Priest of the California based *Church of All Worlds*, claimed 'pagans are the chaplains of the ecology movement'. 143 Zell's thesis was simple. For pre-historic humans nature was not just a treasure chest of abundant resources, nature was the caregiver of all life forms. Mother Earth was the Goddess and the womb from which all life sprang. In Greek mythology the Mother Goddess was Gaia, now revamped into an ecological and ritualized totem with political overtones. There are grave dangers in mixing religion and politics. Paganism is the oldest religion on earth and it was in Zell's opinion, set to become the only religion. According to Zell neopaganism would transition all other religions and govern every aspect of life on

_

Otto Zell [1970] *The Church of All Worlds Handbook* at www.scribed.com/doc/62319098/CAW-mbr-hdbk-1stEd Retrieved 15th July, 2012.

the earth. It would happen gradually in communities, covens, circles, new ecology and other transitions groups.

In a more recent development the ever popular 'Gaia Hypothesis' was reformulated and put forward by the British scientist and ecologist James Lovelock. In Lovelock's Gaia Hypothesis the world is like the body of the human, one single, self-regulating system. Lovelock sees the planet together with everything that resides on it as a [w]holistic living entity. Thus, the role of the ecologist is to regain his or her relationship to the planet as part of one living thing. With this in mind, Lovelock maintains that humans need radically restrictive measures to combat environmental loss. Lovelock believes that mainstream environmentalism has failed because the state has not taken measures to reduce consumption so Lovelock advocates the elimination of democratic freedoms and harsher state controls over the population. Lovelock told the 'UK Guardian' that democracies are incapable of adequately addressing climate change. He said

I have a feeling that climate change may be an issue as severe as a war. It may be necessary to put democracy on hold for a while.¹⁴⁴

Lovelock is not alone in this view and some deep ecologists have advocated even more extraordinary measures. Pentii Linkola suggests a return to primitivism. Linkola also wishes to eliminate democracy and calls 'for an

James Lovelock [2010] in the UK Guardian 16th September, 2010.www.guardian.co.uk/.../cif.../authoritarianism-ecofascism-alternative Retrieved 22nd February, 2012.

authoritarian, ecological regime that ruthlessly suppresses consumers'. 145 Linkola writes

An ecocatastrophe is taking place on earth... discipline, prohibition, enforcement and oppression are the only solution... ending the freedom to procreate, abolishing fossil fuels, revoking all international trade agreements, banning air traffic, demolishing the suburbs, and reforesting parking lots...People who are most responsible for environmental damage will be sent to the mountains for 're-education' in eco-gulags: 'the sole glimmer of hope ...lies in a centralized government and the tireless control of citizens.¹⁴⁶

Linkola's views form a growing trend in western eco-fascism which has its roots in the German Heimatschutz. The historian Graham Macklin has commented on how after the Second World War various slithers of fascism existed in Britain that acted as 'carrier' groups in the role of 'transmitting a shared set of core ideological idioms'. ¹⁴⁷ Similarly, Roger Griffin built on the work of George Mosse to refine the notion of a 'minimal fascism' with a liberal axis. ¹⁴⁸/¹⁴⁹ Environment writer Jonathan Olsen has pointed to the new wave of extreme *Right Wing* thought, especially in the ecology movements. He suggests the rise is attributable to increased immigration and the desire for population

Linkola Pentii [2010] in the UK Guardian 16th September, 2010.www.guardian.co.uk/.../cif.../authoritarianism-ecofascism-alternative Retrieved 22nd February, 2012.

¹⁴⁶ Ibid.

Graham Macklin [2007] Very Deeply Dyed in Black: Sir Oswald Mosely and the Resurrection of British Fascism London Taurus, p3.

Walter & George Mosse [1972] [ed.] *International Fascism* 1920-1945 N. Y. Harper.

Roger Griffin [1995] Fascism. Oxford, Oxford University Press and USA; Second Edition.

controls. ¹⁵⁰ This view is supported by numerous other sources. ¹⁵¹ Neo-fascist organizations of all kinds have been increasing their influence in the developed world. Such a widespread growth has not occurred since the 1930s. The 1980s saw the biggest resurgence in neo-fascism with such organizations as Germany's *Deutsche Völksunion* and the French Front. The 2008 global economic downturn has provided a fertile ground for a renewed western fascism. Rick Kuhn of the Australian National University contends:

The extreme right made progress during the 1980s and 1990s across western Europe, including in Italy [Northern Leagues], Norway and Denmark [Progress Parties], Sweden [New Democracy], Austria [FPÖ], Belgium [Vlaams Blok] and the Netherlands [Centre Party and Centre Democrats]. Nor has North America been immune from this trend, as the level of support for David Duke, with his Ku Klux Klan associations, in US Senate, the Louisiana House of Representatives and gubernatorial elections indicated. In Canada the Reform Party represents a similar phenomenon. ¹⁵²

Fascist groups may be a long way from taking power, but they are changing attitudes and causing disharmony. In Germany it took ten years to find the neo-Nazi murderers of nine Turkish immigrants because the police allegedly did not

Jonathan Olsen [2000] *The Global Rise of Right Wing Ecology* in Earth Island Journal Vol. 15, No. 2. http://www.earthisland.org/eijournal/sum2000/fe_sum2000rightwingeco.html Retrieved 10th June 2012.

Catherine Dagger, [2010] *Rise of the Neo-Nazis? German Neo-Fascism and Anti-Fascism* http://www.voices.yahoo.com/rise-neo-nazis-german-neo-fascism-anti-5483427.html Retrieved 25th March, 2012.

Rick Kuhn [2000] Fascism in Germany today: Debate: Review of Contemporary German Affairs [UK] 2 1993 pp. 131-151 www.anu.edu.au/polsci/rick/fasger.htm Retrieved 4th August, 2012.

act on information. ¹⁵³ In Australia hatred towards immigrants festers under a government policy of multiculturalism. Likewise Britain is awash with racial turmoil.

The Crisis.

Green capitalism has been shaped by bigger geopolitical changes that has rendered the mainstream environmentalists inept. In the mid 1990s the environment movement was at a crossroads. The war in the Persian Gulf created an environmental disaster with thousands of oil wells left unattended and burning. The big corporations were coming under attack worldwide for cutting corners and manipulating environment regulations. Political activist Ken Saro Wiwa was executed for his outspoken opposition to the oil industry practices in Nigeria and there was growing concern over the threats of terrorism. A series of gallop poles in America found around 76% of the population called themselves environmentalists who were concerned about climate change, they wanted governments to act, but governments failed to act. Enter the deeper radical movement and the notion of pristine wilderness.

In a work titled *Man Swarm and the Killing of Wildlife* writer Dave Foreman extolled the view that there is nothing more valuable than wilderness and man is the enemy of the wilderness. ¹⁵⁴ He also believes in population controls and he has been known to suggest 'outsiders should stop shipping food to famine-stricken Ethiopia and 'just let nature seek its own balance'. Foreman wants to reduce the number of people on earth by 70% or more, not to stop global warming or eliminate famine, but so that large parts of the Earth can be

Ruby Russell [2011] *German links serial killings to neo-Nazis* USA .*Today* [News] 19th December, 2011.

Dave Foreman [2011] *Man Swarm and the Killing of Wildlife*; London, Ravens Eye Press.

'rewilded', that is converted into large, people-free reserves for large wild mammals. 155

Reinventing History.

The Wall Street collapse of 1929 was very similar to the 2008 global economic crisis. The roaring twenties led to the belief that the stock market would rise indefinitely and there were few limits to economic speculation. When the stock market finally crashed everything was impacted especially the availability of food. In the 1930s, the whole of European agriculture faced a severe depression. At the time peasant groups across Europe became politically active agitating for land reforms and higher food production.

In 1931 people had lost faith in their politicians and some were protesting on the streets. In October 1932, a National Hunger March in London's Hyde Park saw bloody clashes between protesters and mounted policemen, with 75 people being badly injured. The events were recorded by George Orwell who predicted a future totalitarianism ruled by a corporatized state. 157

The German Heimatschutz Movement began innocuously in the context of extreme poverty and hardship. It began with altruistic intentions, but it later became a carefully rationalized instrument of fascist tyranny. *Blood and Soil* was to represent the worst kind of primal behavior often associated with survival in the most ancient, harshest, wildest, tribal lands. Heimatschutz was a peasant movement used for the re-ordering of urban cities into small communities for food security at a time when people were threatened with

Angus, Ian [2012] *Climate and Capitalism* Review of Foreman Dave [2011] *Man Swarm and the Killing of Wildlife*; London Ravens Eye Press. *Posted on April 25, 2012* Dave Foreman's *Man Swarm*: Defending wildlife by attacking immigrants.

Dominic Sandbrook [2011] Daily Mail 30th December, 2011. *Will 2012 be the new Dark Age*? Mail Online www.dailymail.co.uk/debate/article.../Will-2012-new-Dark-Age.html Retrieved 15th February, 2012.

¹⁵⁷ Ibid.

economic decline and already primed to cooperate with authorities because they were hungry.

The popularity of Heimatschutz grew out of the peasant agriculture that was promulgated through festivals and entertainment that connected to the land and families. Festivities would open and close with a hymn, confessions and rhetorical speeches of politics and faith [sermons]. Festivals included marches and processions, the most well known being a walk to Hambach Castle holding nationalist flags and emblems. The historical setting of towers, turrets and mediaeval regalia that included sacred oak trees was modeled on the ancient rituals at Stonehenge. Other important monuments included Hermannsdenkmal [1836-75] built to commemorate the victory of Hermon over Arminius and the Roman legions. The celebrations were also influenced by the Greek mythologies of Olympus, home of the Greek gods and the original birthplace of the Amphitheatre, which had no scenery other than the natural landscape. Gottfried Keller proposed building such a theatre in Germany in 1859. After 1903 many such theatres came into existence. The dancer Mary Wigman used the setting to give performances that stressed free spiritual movement using the mystical capture of light on the body. Wigman's works included The Seven Dances of Life [1918], Totenmal [1930], and the entire opera Orpheus and Eurydice [1947]. The story was told by Apollonius of Rhodes, Virgil and Ovid and retold by Edith Hamilton in Mythology. Wigman's dances were also performed by Rudolf Steiner's wife Marie von Sievers in movements called Eurhythmy. These activities went hand-in-hand with a program of gymnastics and other health and fitness regimes popular in the 1920s. It included Rudolf von Laban's communal movement, a festival of walking cult rites that celebrated unification. Similar rites are practiced by New Age and deep ecology cohorts in the building of the Labyrinth and accompanying meditations.

Small Communities and National Unity.

National unity was believed to have come from above as a matter of destiny; it was viewed as the merger of heaven and earth. The Sacred May Day glorified the flames of Atlas, god of war and an important symbol not just for Hitler but also for Gustav Le Bon and his theories on crowd control. Le Bon believed the crowd and the leader could not stand alone there must also be sub-leaders and sub-groups depicting the hierarchies in ancient mythology. Everything in life became patterned by mythology.

The Germans had a long tradition in romanticism and idealism and in the 1880s it found a particularly strong voice in a German music professor named Ernst Rudorff. Professor Rudorff added the polish of high culture to the peasant heritage by way of inventing a lower class purity predicated on nature. In this sense, Rudorff created unification across the German speaking world. The professor published a popular essay on *The Relationship of Modern Life and Nature*. Here material nature was shifted from being just a utility to something endowed with the supreme and ascending value of beauty and transcendence. Nature became sacrosanct and 'men' of all casts and classes were nature's servants on a pathway towards their own individual spiritual ascendance or what Friedrich Nietzsche called 'superman'. ¹⁵⁹

Germany already had a strong agricultural movement dating back to the 1800s much of it with *Left Wing* overtones that were distinctly anti-

_

K. Bergmann and Christian Otto's Summer 1983 Art Journal essay Modern Environment and Historical Continuity: The Heimatschutz Discourse in Germany. Also S. Muthesius, The Origins of the German Conservation Movement in R. Kain [Ed.] Planning for Conservation, London 1981 in Matthew Jefferies [1995] The Heimatschutz Movement in Politics and Culture in Wilhelmine Germany: The Case of Industrial Architecture, Oxford, Berg Publishers Limited, p55.

Friedrich Nietzsche [1961] *Thus spoke Zarathustra*. [Trans.] R.J. Hollingdale, Harmmondsworth, Penguin Books.

institutional. ¹⁶⁰ The Germans based their agrarian revival on the romantic notion that 'small is beautiful'. The peasants insulated their communities with nature based philosophies that included the old traditions and strident racial policies. After the establishment of the Third Reich Heimatschutz fell in line with fascism. The event of German fascism became embedded into the psychic structure of the masses through constant indoctrination of the small community discourse while simultaneously embarking upon the accumulation of global power. The hidden motive behind these initiatives was to unleash the primal survival instincts via the land and cultivate them for use in imperialist warmongering. Hence, Heimatschutz became an integral component in the fascist military machine, which it supported throughout the Second World War. Heimatschutz was known as Hitler's Green Party; it provided food for the nation and underpinned the ideas of German purity and idealism. The Freiburg economics professor and Heimatschutz activist Carl Johann Fuchs described the movement this way:

What we strive for is in no way regressive, revolutionary or romantic – which some people may suggest. We have no intention of jamming the spokes of the 'wheel of time', or indeed of trying to turn it back, but we can and will steer it so it does not run over the beauties of our homeland and does not drive us up the creek of affectation and pretentious superficiality, but rather takes us up to the heights of real culture.¹⁶¹

-

Bramwell Anna Blood *and Soil; Richard Walther Darre and Hitler's 'Green Party'* Oxford, Oxford University Press, p1.

Fuchs. C.J [1904] Heimatschutz und Volkswirtschaft, in Der Kunstwart. Vol. 17 p212 in Jefferies Matthew [1995] The Heimatschutz Movement in Politics and Culture in Wilhelmine Germany: The Case of Industrial Architecture, Oxford, Berg Publishers Limited, p60.

Positive Psychology

Positive psychology was born around the same time as Heimatschutz. Hitler always inveighed against being negative and positive regeneration was inherent in the cult. The appeal of moving from a sick world to a healthy one lends credence to the notion of beauty, holiness and redemption. Johann Joachim Winckelmann [1764] taught that beauty, simplicity and quietness would end human alienation. This was followed by Friedrich Theodore Vischer's Aesthetics *or the Science of the Beautiful* [1846-57]. The classical pyramid signified the ascendance from the earthly desires to the ascetic idyll depicted in the Völkerschlachtdenkmal monument that celebrates the Battle of Nations [1913] at Leipzig. A similar version exists in the Melbourne Shrine of Remembrance [1934]. The reform of life through death and resurrection is a common religious theme.

Heimatschutz succeeded for as long as it did because it was built on the wider *Völkisch* movement, which advocated the 'reform of life'. The *Völk* was, by design a universal deep ecology and transitions movement. Behind the strategies and policies for the 'reform of life' was a metaphysical discourse of powerful proportions. The original 'reform of life' movement was the eighteenth century anti-Enlightenment Movement. The members called themselves the Romantics. In Germany the Freemasons were a major driver of the Romantic trends. Goethe, Lessing and Schiller were three key Freemasons who started the Literary Romantic movement. The American Declaration of Independence and the Constitution are both regarded as Romantic Freemasonry works. Their ideas were developed in 1689 when John Locke [1632-1704] wrote the *Second Treatise of Civil Government*. Freemasonry offered

_

Matthew Jefferies [1995] *The Heimatschutz Movement* in *Politics and Culture in Wilhelmine Germany: The Case of Industrial Architecture*, Oxford, Berg Publishers Limited, p55.

unification at a spiritual level. The desire was to engage the senses and the imagination in transcendence and/or a state of mind that equated with the primal wild, [t]hus ignoring the problems of the real world.

The links between environmentalism and the Nazis were explored in *How Green Were the Nazis? Nature, Environment, and Nation in the Third Reich* [2005] by Franz-Josef Brüggemeier, Mark Cioc, and Thomas Zeller. These writers came to the conclusion that, 'the green policies of the Nazis ... demonstrate with brutal clarity that conservationism and environmentalism are not and have never been value-free or inherently benign enterprises'. ¹⁶³ The prominent Nazi, Ernst Lehmann, defined National Socialism in terms of an 'apocalypticism, nature-mysticism, devaluation and subjugation of humanity, and ersatz paganism' as the 'Greens manifesto'. ¹⁶⁴

Separating humanity from nature, from the whole of life, leads to humankind's own destruction ... Only through a re-integration of humanity into the whole of nature can our people be made stronger. That is the fundamental point of the biological tasks of our age. Humankind alone is no longer the focus of thought, but rather life as a whole ... This striving toward connectedness with the totality of life, with nature itself, a nature into which we are born, this is the deepest meaning and the true essence of National Socialist thought. ¹⁶⁵

The connection between the old and the new environment movements has prompted some international environmentalists to warn against the propensity of green movements to embrace authoritarian and fascist methods to achieve

Franz-Josef Brüggemeier, Mark Cioc and Thomas Zeller [2005] *How Green Were the Nazis? Nature, Environment, and Nation in the Third Reich.* Ohio, Ohio University Press. p14.

¹⁶⁴ Ibid

¹⁶⁵ Ibid.

their goals. Theorists such as Janet Biehl and Peter Staudenmaier suggest that this tendency 'demands an acute awareness and understanding of the legacy of classical eco-fascism and its conceptual continuities with present day environmental discourse.' 166

The possibility of a Heimatschutz revival may not be unrealistic given the popular adulation that was attributed to the book and film called *Harmony* produced by Britain's Prince Charles, Prince of Wales. In a UK Daily Mail preview on 7th October, 2010 the Prince, in an interview, uses the term 'whole-istic' to describe how the whole of society needs to be overhauled, from medicine and education to science, technology and architecture'. This is precisely how Heimatschutz began and how its ideology became the mainstream German culture.

_

Janet Biehl and Peter Staudenmaier [1995] Eco-fascism: Lessons from the German Experience, Oakland, AK Press, p.26.

Prince Charles, [2012] Harmony at http://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-1318416/Prince-Charles-uses-book-Harmony-pledge-duty-environment.html#ixzz1nRmGkawH Retrieved 28th February 2012.

8 THE ANTHROPOSOPHY OF RUDOLF STEINER.

With the collapse of communism, deep ecology and the communitarians have become the most active forces challenging liberalism. The hunter-gatherer philosophy of the deep ecologist was the centerpiece of National Socialism, sometimes called 'organic democracy' which has its roots in the Anthroposophy of Rudolf Steiner [1861-1925]. Steiner mixed organic food production, spirituality and education with the aim of creating a universal movement of change, but if Steiner's critics are to be believed the man displayed some very dark characteristics.

The links between the deep ecologists and Rudolf Steiner are often obscured. However, Steiner's works on organics written in the 1920s are revealing. They speak of fertility, hidden energies, magnetic fields and balance as well as a deep communion with the Devil and nature. Steiner's works foreground the ideas of Max Oelschlaeger's Paleolithic mind as *Homo religious*. That is to say nature is never just nature it has an intrinsic religious value. This in turn is linked to raw nature and humanity in its primal state, what is now being called the new tribalism; sometimes encumbering an urban tinge.

Steiner's teachings, called Anthroposophy are not without controversy. Steiner has been called a 'cult' figure and a 'racist' and it has been alleged that he was linked to the German Nazi Party. Steiner supporters have gone to great lengths to dispute any accusations of his Nazi connections. In fact, Steiner's followers have built his credibility on the events of 1924 when the Nazis burned down the Steiner headquarters, making him a perceived victim not a supporter. Steiner was said to have been so devastated by this attack he could

lbid.

⁻

Max Oelschlaeger [1991] *The Idea of Wilderness From Pre-History to the Age of Ecology, New* Haven, Conn. Yale University, p 20. See also Anna Bramwell 1994.

not go on. He died the following year from a heart attack. Some sources say Steiner was murdered by the Nazis. Another theory suggests the Nazis destroyed all their rivals, including Rudolf Steiner. Notwithstanding, there are a number of similarities between Steiner's philosophy and those of the Third Reich that need to be explored.

Rudolf Steiner was, by his own account, 'enthusiastically active' in the pan-German nationalist movements in Vienna at the end of the nineteenth century'. Wolfgang Treher makes a convincing case that Steiner's racial theories, especially the idea of 'a small minority evolving further while a large mass declines', bear striking similarities to Hitler's own theories. ¹⁷¹ In order to truly learn the workings of Steiner organizations one must read his books, study the archive documents or find ex-Steiner cohorts who are willing to disclose their experiences; the latter of course can always be claimed as biased.

Steiner's Theosophical Past.

The Steiner philosophies originally arose from the Theosophical Society. Madam Blavatsky founded the Theosophical Society in 1875 with her Secret *Doctrine of Atlantis* and its six 'root races' among which the master race belonged to the 'Aryans'. That Steiner joined the Theosophic movement in 1902 is undisputed. He appears to have split from it in 1917, founding his own Anthroposophy movement with a cadre of Theosophical followers. According to some theorists, Steiner left the Theosophical Society because of his personal racist convictions. It has been alleged that Steiner could not accept the

¹⁷⁰ Ibid.

¹⁷¹ Ibid.

¹⁷² Ibid.

'absurdity' that 'the brown Hindu child Jiddu Krishnamurthi was declared the reincarnation of Christ' and 'allowed into the movement'. 173

In 1895 Steiner's friend Franz Hartmann, a Viennese acquaintance of the Theosophist Madam Blavatsky and Carl Kellner founded the occult lodge *Ordo Templi Orientis* [OTO.] In 1906 the Anglo-German and Freemason Theodor Reuss is believed to have re-constituted the OTO and introduced Tantric sexual magic as the heart of the cult's secret agenda. It has been alleged that the OTO was associated with figures like the neo-Satanist Aleister Crowley. It has been claimed that in 1912 Crowley reached the 9th grade of the OTO and wielded a lot of influence. The same sources suggest that in 1912 Crowley became leader of the British section: *Mysteria Mystica Maxima* [MMM]. Most of this history is undisputed. What is not well known is that Steiner's Anthroposophy also allegedly emerged from the OTO. ¹⁷⁴

Steiner had been a friend of Franz Hartmann's since the late 1880s. In 1905 he became a member of the OTO, which already then was dominated by Reuss. From 1906 [when Reuss refounded the OTO as a perverse sex-cult] until 1914 Steiner was master of the highest, 10th grade, and leader of the German branch of the OTO the Mysteria Mystica Aeterna [MMA]. When he still was the 'Supremus Rex' of the MMA he founded the original Anthroposophic Society in 1912/13. The nucleus of the Society was, of course, the MMA. Thus it is somewhat unlikely that the MMA was really disbanded in 1914, as Steiner claimed. Probably it still exists as the inner-most core of

Peter Nasselstein P [2012] **RUDOLF STEINER's ANTHROPOSOPHY, A NAZI CULT?** www.thule-italia.net/.../Peter%20Nasselstein%20-... Retrieved. 24th June 2012.

¹⁷⁴ Ibid.

the leading circle of international Anthroposophy in Dornach, Switzerland. 175

These claims are strongly contested by MMA.

Re: Mysteria Mystica Aeterna... Steiner bought a Masonic Charter from Reuss, but he [Steiner] wasn't a member of the O.T.O. Steiner initially titled his lodges Misraim Service [possible thinking on Cagliostro whom Theosophical legend suggested started it all]. And later apparently briefly changed it to 'Michael Service' shortly before abandoning the idea. This was when WWI [possible among others] prevented him from travelling through Germany, where the lodges in order to function, needed his presence as the only grandmaster...¹⁷⁶

The controversy does not end there it appears there was a conflict between Rudolf Steiner and Ron Hubbard, founder of the *Church of Scientology*. Hubbard was also publically identified as a member of OTO. Indeed, it is on the public record that Sara Elizabeth Bruce Northrup Hollister [1924-1997] was the second wife of Hubbard from 1946 to 1951 and the wife of Miles Hollister from 1951 to her death in 1997.¹⁷⁷ Sara Northrup was a major figure in the Pasadena branch of the OTO, the branch founded by the English occultist Aleister Crowley. The records show that from 1941 to 1945 Sara had a turbulent relationship with Jack Parsons, the head of the Pasadena OTO, who was married to Sara's sister Helen. Parsons was a rocket scientist and occultist. Sara met

175

Ibid.

This message was posted on waldorf critics@yahoogroups.com, See also 'FRONKENSTEINER' fronkensteiner@... www.waldorfkritik.dk http://www.waldorfkritik.dk See also http://www.cyberlink.ch/~koenig/steiner.htm] Retrieved 4th June 2012.

Sara Northrup Hollister [1924-1997] http://www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sara_Northrup_Hollister Retrieved 2nd February, 2012.

Hubbard through the OTO in 1945 and they allegedly eloped with a substantial amount of Jack Parson's money. Sara subsequently married one of Hubbard's former employees, Miles Hollister. 178

In 2010 the Church of Scientology became the subject of an Australian Federal Government Senate inquiry after a number of *Scientology* members' alleged cultism and abuse. 179 Seemingly, no such inquiry has been applied to Rudolf Steiner's organization or his Waldorf Schools. Nonetheless, there have been numerous questions from the public pertaining to the allotment of government funding to Steiner Schools, which allegedly practice forms of occultism.

Steiner schools came under scrutiny in Europe when a major scandal of child abuse was reported by the Scottish Daily Record. The article told how a Steiner Primary School in Glasgow had hired a music teacher with a serial sex offender The 53-year-old predator had two previous convictions for indecency record. against young boys. 'He refused a check that would have unearthed his past, but was allowed to remain there for another four years.'180 Subsequently, a lot of conjecture about Steiner Schools started to appear on Internet weblogs.

> The closed and secretive nature of Steiner schools is an environment where the predatory or unscrupulous may take advantage of children. All environments with children risk potential problems, but the detached Steiner schools with a sense of their own spiritual

178

Ibid.

¹⁷⁹ Sydney Morning Herald [2011] Ruthless' Scientology condemned in tax debate 29th June 2010. www.smh.com.au/.../ruthless-scientology-condemned-in-tax-debate-... Retrieved 11th April 2012.

¹⁸⁰ Daily Record [Scotland] 4th November 2012. *Shock as it emerges serial sex offender* was employed by private school to teach music to kids. http://dailyrecord.co.uk/news/scottish-news/seial-sex-offender-was-employed-byprivate-school-to-teach-music.htm Retrieved 2nd December, 2012.

superiority and unwillingness to allow outside scrutiny and criticism pose a dangerous habitat.¹⁸¹

The OTO generally keeps a low profile, but in 2006 the OTO found they were fighting alleged claims of child sexual abuse in Australia. The case before the Victorian and Civil Administrative Tribunal was over an article which alleged senior politicians and television celebrities were part of a top-level pedophile ring that had been protected by police officers. The claims were alleged to have been posted on a website belonging to a Melbourne doctor. The doctor claimed they were posted without her knowledge. A lawyer for the doctor said she had 'called for a royal commission to investigate her claims that Victoria Police did not properly investigate pedophile ring allegations'. Earlier complaints in 2004 had led to a report by the police ombudsman that was 'highly critical of two senior detectives'. According to *Lawyers Weekly* Australia's leading journal for the legal professional, the case made history because it was only the second time that the controversial *Religious and Racial Tolerance Act* 2001 [Vic] had been tested. 184

Rudolf Steiner's popularity has hidden the fact that he has often been accused of fraudulent behavior. For example, it has been alleged that Steiner's theories were never original they were stolen from the German idealistic philosopher, educationist, and psychologist Johann Friedrich Herbart [1776-

Andy Lewis [2012] *Steiner Schools and the Risk Factors for Child Abuse*. Blog www.quackometer.net/.../steiner-schools-and-risk-factors-for-child-a...Retrieved *2nd December*, 2012.

OTO [2006] *No apology for Magick Mystic sex abuse claim settled* www.theyfly.com/articles/gaia/oto.age.22.11.06.htm Retrieved 2nd February 2012.

Barney Zwartz, [2006] *The Melbourne Age: Cult fights claims of child sacrifice*. November 22, 2006 http://www.theage.com.au/news/national/cult-fights-claims-of-child-sacrifice/2006/11/21/1163871404937.html Retrieved 1st February 2012. And www.theyfly.com/articles/gaia/oto.age.22.11.06.htm Retrieved 2nd February 2012.

¹⁸⁴ Ibid.

1841]. 'Herbart's follower Robert Zimmermann [1824-1898], who was Steiner's teacher at university, had seemingly published identical ideas in a book on Anthroposophie in Vienna in 1882'. 185

It has also been alleged that Steiner simply 'spiritualized' the natural science of his time; that was 'the four ethers of Anthroposophic theory he formulated according to the four aggregate states of matter.' Steiner's architecture has also been called into question. It has been alleged that the deliberate lack of symmetry in buildings was designed to disturb the senses and make people feel vulnerable. According to one critic it 'actually leads towards a schizo-like state of mind'. A lot of attention has been given to Steiner's personal tastes to suggest that they reflected the man's mood swings. Allegedly, Steiner would traverse the moods of spiritual elation in one moment and a pre-occupation with morbidity in another. Speculation would indicate a possible bipolar disorder; but this can only be a matter of scant deduction, yet these concerns are not new. Wilhelm Reich was particularly troubled by what he believed was inappropriate sex education in Steiner institutions. Reich wrote:

It would be worthwhile to make a thorough study of ... the various theosophic and Anthroposophical trends ... as socially important manifestations of patriarchal sexual economy. Let it suffice to say here that mystical groups merely represent a concentration of facts that we find in a more diffuse, less tangible, but, for all that, no less clear form, in all layers of the population. There is a direct correlation between mystical, sentimental, and sadistic sentiments on the one hand and the average disturbance of the natural orginatic experience

185

Ibid.

Peter Nasselstein P [2012] **RUDOLF STEINER's ANTHROPOSOPHY, A NAZI CULT?** www.thule-italia.net/.../Peter%20Nasselstein%20-... *Retrieved* 24th *June* 2012.

¹⁸⁷ Ibid.

on the other hand...Compare this with the realistic, unsentimental, vital experience of the genuine revolutionary, the dedicated natural scientist, healthy adolescents, etc. ¹⁸⁸

Reich takes the psychoanalytic view that Steiner's mysticism stems from his own sexual repression and that he encouraged repression in his students. Reich continues:

... He defends himself against his genital sexuality with the help of moralistic deprecation. He accuses those around him of not having an understanding for 'spiritual values' and of being 'crude, vulgar, and materialistic'. ¹⁸⁹

Reich believed that the fascists used Steiner's ideas to make an all out effort to educate children and youth away from the natural sexual impulses, replacing them with 'the cultivation of slavery to authority'. 190

This applies, for instance, to the so-called esprit de corps that was cultivated in the Labor Conscription Camps as well as the so-called 'spirit of discipline and obedience,' which was preached everywhere. The hidden motive behind these slogans was to unleash brutality and make it ready for use in imperialistic wars. ¹⁹¹

Wilhelm Reich [1995] *The Mass Psychology of Fascism*, The Noonday Press, p. 138 and in Peter Nasselstein *Rudolf Steiner's Anthroposophy. A Nazi Cult?* online at www.thule italia.net/.../Peter%20Nasselstein%20-... See also ORGONOMIC SOCIOLOGY leilah.org/media/orgosoc.PDF Retrieved 2nd February, 2012.

¹⁸⁹ Ibid.

¹⁹⁰ Ibid.

¹⁹¹ Ibid, p192.

Steiner and the Waldorf Schools.

The topic of Steiner's education system has raised many concerns amidst unsatisfied parents especially around America's Silicon Valley, where Steiner's education has been particularly popular amidst the alternative middle class.

Busy executives believing they are getting a benign arts-based education for their children are, unfortunately, participating in something VERY different...what have the Silicon Valley executives signed their kids up for? ... Waldorf education is the missionary arm of Anthroposophy – a quasi-religious movement based on the clairvoyant visions of a single man – Rudolf Steiner. Rudolf Steiner... wrote what has been compiled into over 40 books and gave over 6000 lectures. His body of work is essentially what represents Waldorf teacher training. In other words, the 'special' training Waldorf teachers get that makes them 'experts' in child development is nothing more than Rudolf Steiner's clairvoyant musings. ¹⁹²

The commentary goes on to suggest that everyone concerned about their children's schooling at Waldorf should know what Steiner cohorts are teaching, not just to children, but specifically to Waldorf teachers. One parent quotes the school training curriculum:

The task of Anthroposophy is not simply to replace a false view of the world with a correct one...The task is to raise the spirit-soul into the realm of the spiritual, so that the human being is no longer a thinking

_

Pete *Karaiskos* [2012] *Waldorf awareness blogspot*http://www.waldorflibrary.org/pg/focusSearch/focusSearch.asp?keywordType=general and http://petekaraiskos.blogspot.com/ and Rudolf Steiner, *Farbe und Menschenrassen*, lecture in Dornach March 3, 1923, in Steiner, Vom Leben des Menschen und der Erde, Dornach 1993, p. 67. Retrieved 13th February 2012.

and feeling automaton...The human being is...in danger of drifting into the Ahrimanic [Devil] world, in which case the spirit-soul will evaporate into the cosmos... Steiner believed people incarnate into 'higher' or 'lower' races, that some races are 'degenerate' and that one race, the 'white race, is the race of the future'. ¹⁹³[My parenthesis].

In Steiner's Lecture III *The Balance in the World and Man, Lucifer and Ahriman* it is quite clear that Steiner encourages a relation with a mystical Devil figure. Steiner describes how important it is 'in the present age for man to recognize this co-operation between Luciferic and Ahrimanic powers... only by such recognition can be gradually learn to understand the forces that are at work behind the external phantasmagoria of existence.' Steiner goes on to state '...the physical spatial body of man owes its form to the interaction of Luciferic and Ahrimanic powers.' And 'we come a little nearer to the inner nature of man when we pass from the physical to the etheric body. The etheric body may be regarded as the shaper of the physical body.' Steiner then claims there is a relation between the 'etheric organism' and the 'in perpetual inner movement.' 195

Not everyone agreed with Steiner; the comment below is from an ex-Steiner supporter;

Anthroposophists, when they can be understood at all, express superstitions and prejudices that would embarrass a redneck. Fearing injury by everything from rock music to microchips to

¹⁹³ Ibid

Rudolf Steiner Archive Lecture III: *The Balance in the World* and Man, Lucifer *and Ahriman* wn.rsarchive.org/Lectures/BalWorld/19141122p01.html Retrieved 2nd January 2013.

¹⁹⁵ Ibid.

Jesuits, they have become a society of esoteric hypochondriacs, in neo-Amish withdrawal from modern political and economic life. 196

Steiner's ideas resonate with archaic paganism which sees Lucifer as the Light Giver or the female energy of conception and birth. These views are also linked to preferential bloodlines. Steiner taught that 'there is in humanity, like in a single human being', a 'spiritual evolutionary development' from child to adult which is based on racial criterion. ¹⁹⁷

Thus the Negroid race is 'baby,' the Mongolic race is 'youth,' and the Indoaryan race is 'adult,' while the Amerind race is 'aged' and destined to die out.¹⁹⁸

In another version of the above Steiner states

...the Malayan-Polynesian race is a 'dying race,' they become 'useless humans' because as former Mongols they cannot deal with the Sun and warmth of their tropic regions. Thus the brown people are doomed just as the red people. Also the Blacks are 'atrophic humans'. In the same order as those decadent races devoid of any spirit belong the manlike apes who are an even further degeneration of man...

It was alleged that in 1922 Steiner pleaded that pregnant women should not read the then popular 'Negro novels' since by the spiritual influence of this reading on the fetus their children would become gray, with frizzy hair and

¹⁹⁸ Ibid.

Cathrine MacCoun [1997] *Work On What Has Been Spoiled* by Catherine MacCoun See also Rudolf Steiner *Community Life, Inner Development, Sexuality and the Spiritual Teacher* http://www.members.aol.com/kitmac/workon.htm and http://www.ipwebdev.com/hermit/ktmc1/html Retrieved 11th August, 2012.

¹⁹⁷ Ibid.

mulatto like. Also, in general, he lamented the influence of Negro culture in Europe, because it is detrimental to Europe's spiritual-racial purity. ¹⁹⁹ These views are in full agreement with Nazism.

Steiner cohorts believe in a level of higher consciousness attainable through various rituals. In the book *The Spear of Destiny* the Anthroposophist Trevor Ravenscroft argued that only the pure blood Aryan is permeated with the capacity for clairvoyant vision as the 'blood memory' of the 'Aryan Sons of God'. It has been suggested that Hitler believed he had this trait so did Steiner. Both Hitler and Steiner also believed this was 'the very last vestige of the ancient Germanic tribes, which had once been symbolized by the four-armed Swastika.'²⁰⁰ To achieve the higher state, the Aryan blood had to be kept pure and this meant selective breeding. Steiner's published works have included racist and esoteric discourses that strongly allude to selective breeding. These include works such as the 'Knowledge of the Higher Worlds' and 'From the Akashic Chronicle', and 'Occult Science: An Outline'. Hence Ravenscroft wrote

The Jewish blood had become gall and would be of no further significance in the evolution of humanity, for it had been replaced with the Blood of the New Covenant.²⁰¹

Ravenscroft provided lucid details of Rudolf Steiner's alleged connections to Hitler's Green Party starting with Houston Stewart Chamberlain [1855–1927] who was British-born, but who moved to Germany where he wrote books on political philosophy, natural science and the German composer Richard Wagner. Chamberlain became a German citizen and married Wagner's daughter, Eva von Bülow. Chamberlain's two-volume book, *Die Grundlagen*

199 Ibid.

Ibid.

¹⁹⁹

²⁰¹ Ibid and Trevor Ravenscroft, p 12

des neunzehnten Jahrhunderts [The Foundations of the Nineteenth Century]²⁰² published in 1899, became one of the many references for the pan-Germanic movement of the early 20th century, and later, of the *Völkisch* anti-Semitism of Nazi racial policy.²⁰³

In 1889 Chamberlain began developing his ideas on race starting with the concept of a Teutonic supremacy which he alleged was encapsulated in the works of Wagner and Arthur de Goboneau.²⁰⁴ Goboneau was a French aristocrat who became famous for developing the theory of the Aryan master race. He wrote his ideas in his book An *Essay on the Inequality of the Human Races* [1853–1855]. Gobineau is credited with being the father of modern racial demography.²⁰⁵ In 1891 Steiner received his Ph.D., at the University of Rostock. His thesis dealt with the scientific teachings of Gottlieb Fichte. Put simply, Fichte was the founder of German Idealism and an anti-Semite whose work, together with the ideas of Gobineau, made up the intellectual roots of Nazism. Both extolled the importance of race to history and civilization. A somewhat enlarged form Steiner's thesis appeared under the title, *Wahrheit und Wissenchaft, Truth and Science* as the preface to Steiner's major philosophical

Houston Stewart Chamberlain [1899] Die *Grundlagen des Neunzehnten Jahrhunderts*, Munich, Germany: F. Bruckmann, Electronic copy is available from the Hathi Trust Digital Library [volume 1] and [volume 2]. And Wikipedia http://en.www.wikipedia.wiki.Houston_Stewart_Chamberlain Retrieved 4th May 2012.

Lord Redesdale [1913] *Introduction to Foundations of the Nineteenth Century*, London, 4th English language impression, 1913, p. vi and Mosse, George L. *Introduction to the 1968 Edition. Foundations of the Nineteenth Century*. Chamberlain, Houston Stewart. Vol. I. Trans. John Lees. New York: Howard Fertig inc., 1968, p. ix. Houston Stewart Chamberlain - Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia en.wikipedia.org/Houstan_Sterart_Chamberlain Retrieved 20th May 2012.

Allan Chase [1977] *The Legacy of Malthus: The Social Costs of the New Scientific Racism.* New York: Alfred A. Knopf, pp. 91-92.

Gobineau Arthur de, at Wikipedia, free encyclopedia http://www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Arthur_de_Gobineau Retrieved 6th May 2012.

work, *The Philosophy of Freedom* [1894]. The work is an attempted revival of romanticism. It covers such questions as *Conscious Human Action*, *The Desire for Knowledge*, *The Limits to Knowledge*, *Darwinism and Morality*, *Pessimism*, *the Consequences of Monism* and much more.

Chamberlain became an important member of the Bayreuth Circle, the group that supported Wagner's Bayreuth Festival. This was a venue for music enthusiasts who were also German nationalists, intellectuals and Nazi writers. Chamberlain is known to have joined the Nazi Party and contributed to its publications. Its primary journal, the Völkischer Beobachter dedicated five columns to praising Chamberlain on his 70th birthday, describing The Foundations as the 'gospel of the Nazi movement'. 206 In this work Chamberlain argued that western civilization is deeply marked by the influence of Teutonic peoples, which turned into the 'Aryan race', a race built on the ancient Proto-Indo-European culture. At the helm of the Aryan race, and, indeed, all races, was the Germanic or Teutonic race. 207 While all other races were deemed 'animal', the Germans were marked as 'spiritual'. The Foundations sold well: eight editions and 60,000 copies within 10 years, 100,000 copies by the outbreak of World War I and 24 editions and more than a quarter of a million copies by 1938. 208 The spirituality aesthetic mix in deep ecology owes much to these German origins.

William L.Shirer [1959] *The Rise and Fall of the Third Reich.* [1985] Bookclub Associates Edition p.109

Houston Stewart Chamberlain [2005] The *Foundations of the 19th Century* [1899], Adamant Media Corporation, p.398, Chapter 5.

William L.Shirer [1959] *The Rise and Fall of the Third Reich*. [1985] Bookclub Associates Edition p.107.

The Spiritual and Moral Dimensions of Steiner Education.

A Steiner education follows the German spiritual foundations in the notion that suggests children's creative, spiritual and moral dimensions need as much attention as their intellectual ones. This may be true; yet in the Steiner context it sees children taking a totally different path to that of other children. Undoubtedly, Steiner educated children are extremely talented in the arts. Also, Steiner parents are very involved in their children's education and if every parent gave their children the same attention, they too might equal the artistic bar of Steiner students. Steiner schools also attract 'difficult' children, such as those with learning difficulties and/or spectrum disorders. It attracts parents who often describe themselves as 'different' or 'outsiders'. Sometimes the parents of these children turn to Steiner schools when they are not managing a situation at home or in the mainstream community. This can mean that children [and parents] who have intellectual or social disadvantages can miss out on appropriate help. It is not unusual for cults to lure the most vulnerable members of society into their ranks and convince them that everything the cult does is in their best interests.

Looking Backwards.

Within modern society we have advanced our knowledge and resolved many of the world's major hazards in the management of disease, food shortages and geological disasters. There is still a long way to go. In the Steiner schools much of the new knowledge is deemed undesirable. In a Steiner kindergarten, children typically play with simple unfinished, wooden toys rather than bright plastic ones. They are discouraged from enjoying the benefits of modern technology. They are discouraged from watching television or playing games on screens. A Steiner classroom would have few books and teaching aids because many aspects of the modern world are scorned. Color is important in the

esoteric practices. Steiner's educational philosophy sees pupils carefully instructed as to how to proceed through the color spectrum, which is said to correspond with spiritual elements of the body. These lessons equate to a belief in intelligent design as opposed to other scientific explanations of the world's creation. Similarly, sound, movement and physical development are explored through the ritualized dance routine called Eurythmy where dancers might shift the mental focus into a state of esoteric/dissociated trance.

In Steiner schools children have the same teacher from seven to fourteen which limits diversity. In some schools children learn two languages from the age of six and mental arithmetic almost daily. Calculators are not used until it becomes an absolutely necessity. Steiner cohorts are also opposed to vaccination as a means of preventing diseases; a general requirement in mainstream schools.

The biggest problem for Steiner children is they become so insulted that they struggle with change, discipline, diversity and difference. Very few Steiner children appear able to move out of the Steiner paradigm.

The Waldorf-Astoria Connection.

Steiner founded his first school in 1919 for the children of the Waldorf-Astoria cigarette factory workers. Very little is known about the circumstances except that Johann Jakob Astor born in 1763 in Waldorf Germany migrated to the United States to escape the persecution of Jews. Astor became the richest man in the world. As for the schools, they have remained shrouded in secrecy.

In Britain the first state-funded school to follow the education principles of the Steiner movement was set up by former British Prime Minister Tony Blair and his flagship academies in the village of Much Dewchurch in Herefordshire. It was sponsored by the Steiner Waldorf Schools Fellowship.²⁰⁹ There was already a Steiner School operating there, but this did not avert criticism from local residents and state school parents. The parental argument in this case was not about philosophy or education it was about privilege. Some people believed, if it is all right for rich parents to pay for their children to undergo this kind of education, why should it not be available to everyone? ²¹⁰

There were significant contests over the costs of the new school, but there were also other more important issues. Modern western societies are committed to a separation of powers between the church and state. Catholic Schools do not teach their religious curriculum in state funded schools, all private schools are funded separately. Independent schools in Australia receive partial government funding; this includes approximately 40 independent Steiner-Waldorf schools. In addition, at the time of writing, 10 schools administered by the state were currently operating Steiner programs.²¹¹ The number is expected to rise. The first school in Victoria to include a Steiner stream was East Bentleigh Primary School [formerly Moorabbin Heights Primary School]; it commenced the Steiner program in 1990. Controversy over a Steiner stream arose at the Footscray City Primary School in 2001 and in 2006. State-run Steiner schools in the Australian State of Victoria were challenged by parents and religious experts over concerns that the schools derive from a spiritual system that includes parents and administrators. The Victorian Department of Education authorities presented divergent views as to whether spiritual or religious dimensions influence pedagogical practice. If present, these would contravene

-

²⁰⁹ Ibid

²¹⁰ Ibid.

The Australian. *Questions about Steiner's classroom*. http://www.theaustralian.com.au/news/nation/questions-about-steiners-classroom/story-e6frg6nf-1111114056265. Retrieved 20th December, 2011.

the secular basis of the public education system.²¹² It was officially deemed there was no influence.

Steiner's Free Food Movement.

Steiner's influence on western society has been profound, albeit discursive. For example, the Steiner organization has been driving the *Free Food Movement* across America where they advocate the consumption of raw milk and biodynamic farming. In addition Steiner organizations are engaged in their own 'social financing' to like minded groups. Since 1984, the organization, through its foundation, has allegedly made over \$230 million in loans and over \$100 million in grants, placing the Steiner organization 'in the top tier of social finance' businesses worldwide.²¹³ The Steiner organization suggests 'that money has a deeply spiritual dimension... money is a form of energy that connects one person to another and strengthens the bonds of community.²¹⁴

It is hardly unusual for religious organizations to be dealing in finance the Vatican runs its own bank and a number of non-government charities sell insurance. The point is, while there might be practical advantages in organic farming and deep ecology when it becomes a mass movement of spirituality, theology and vitalism that excludes 'Others' then it can also create a trigger for communal autarky.

ABC National Radio. *Steiner education in state schools*. 25 July 2007 Religion I. 11th August 2007 Religion II. Retrieved 15th August, 2010.

Rudolf Steiner Social Finance, www.rsfsocialfinance.org. Retrieved 14th March 2012.

²¹⁴ Ibid.

9. COROLLARY.

In 1897 Karl Marx pronounced capitalism to be a system with an 'incurable disease' predicting it was coming close to its death. ²¹⁵ The capitalist world then rallied to hide the disease through an envisaged civil society, which is generally understood as being a reduction in state intervention and power to the people.

Marx argued that civil society worked in favor of the ruling class. Similarly, the German sociologist Max Weber identified four different types of rationality existing within civil society, which he believed would lock people into a cruel authoritarianism. Civil society is often couched in terms of people power, but it is not automatically inclusive and empowering. It was Immanuel Kant's eighteenth century civil society that gave rise to the dissident social movements. This period in history is greatly influenced by imperialism, colonization, economic instability and social upheaval. Today, globalization and the multinational corporations are the new imperialists and they have eroded the power of the middle classes. When the ruling elite no longer have a use for the middle class they get trashed, but should we feel sorry for them?

Since the time of Plato the middle class have used false consciousness and propaganda to prop-up their lifestyle and serve the interests of the ruling elite. Propaganda provides the powerful elites with a mechanism to shape the minds of the masses so they will act in ways that strengthen the privileged class. These powerful ruling elites use leaders in order to 'regiment the public mind every bit as much as an army regiments the bodies of its soldiers.' This process

-

D. Roberts [1975] *Capitalism in Crisis*, London. Pathfinder Press, p5.

of 'engineering consent' is the very 'essence of the democratic process...' ²¹⁶ Notwithstanding, global society has reached a hiatus. As Bob Ellis suggested in his work the *Capitalism Delusion*. 'We have to contemplate the possibility that capitalism...is a form of swindle; a con, a species of addictive drug sold by unscrupulous men to the unwary, the innocent, the ignorant and young.' ²¹⁷

Deep ecology is not an alternative to capitalism. In almost all the deep ecology writings there are suggested changes to the power structures, but these ideas appear to override any care for humans and the solutions are always how to reduce food production not how to extend it.²¹⁸ While scientific and social ecology suggest care for people and the planet, deep ecology invites communal autarky! Poverty and lack of opportunity are environmental problems, but the only answer appears to be some form of punishment metered out against the most vulnerable, whereby suggested solutions have included genocide, selective breeding, no breeding and a possible end to the human race in favor of nature conservation. It is hard to take these ideas seriously, but they are growing in popularity.

I have attempted to argue that deep ecology is much more than a niche environmental formula; it is a secular theology with connections to mysticism and the pessimistic philosophies, which in turn leads to biological determinism and anti-humanism. I contend this formula is aimed at reviving the middle class who, historically in the service of the upper classes, act as a buffer between the rich and poor thus allowing the capitalist system to keep functioning. In this

N. Chomsky [1999] *Consent Without Consent*. NY Seven Stories Press. http://www.thirdworldtraveler.com/Chomsky/ConsentPOP_Chom.html Retrieved 7th March 2010.

B. Ellis [2009] The *Capitalism Delusion*, London, Penguin p59.

Anna Bramwell [1994] *The Fading of the Greens: The decline of Environmental Politics in the West.* New Haven, N.Y. Sate University Press, p74.

respect I argue deep ecology, while it attracts people who are well meaning, is just another form of domination, which will impact on the poor and create communal oppression. It appears that deep ecology is not about power to the people, but power over the people. Deep ecology works to a Romantic blueprint already set out in history that aims to maintain supremacist power.

Capitalism was a great force for the building of empires, but it has caused irreparable damage to millions of people and the planet. It is time to change the formula whereby social equity and ecological concerns can run alongside without being deemed self-regulating and/or [pre]determined.

Humans can be responsible, many are and many more will follow. The environment problems are political and immediate and they require political and personal solutions. They need peoples' ideas and commitment. People are central to changing the world. It might be stating the obvious, but society cannot change without people. Nor can change take place without nurturing the earth that sustains us.

Bibliography.

- ABC National Radio. *Steiner education in state schools*. 25 July, 2007. Religion I. 11th August 2007. Religion II. Retrieved 15th August, 2010.
- Alternet; Review of Ayn Rand's biography. *Goddess of the Market: Ayan Rand and the American Right*. Author Jennifer Burns. In *The Truth about GOP hero Ayn Rand*. http://www.alternet.org/culture/150680 Retrieved 26th October, 2011.
- Angus, Ian [2012] Review of Foreman Dave [2011] *Man Swarm and the Killing of Wildlife*; London Ravens Eye Press. *on Climate and Capitalism.* Posted on April 25th, 2012. Dave Foreman's *Man Swarm*: Defending wildlife by attacking immigrants. Retrieved 25th April, 2012.
- Angus, Ian [2011] Edited text of keynote presentation by Ian Angus to the Climate Change Social Change conference in Melbourne, Australia, October 2, 2011. www.climateandcapitalism.org Retrieved 5th February, 2013.
- Australian. The .*Questions about Steiner's classroom*. http://www.theaustralian.com.au/news/nation/questions-about-steiners-classroom/story-e6frg6nf-1111114056265. Retrieved 20th December, 2011.
- Baldwin, J [ed.] [1971] Whole *Earth Ecology: The Best of Environmental*Tools and Ideas [New York: Harmony Books, [1990], p3 and *The Updated*Last Whole Earth Catalogue: Access to Tools [Menlo Park, CA: Nowles, [1971], p43.
- Balfour, Lady Eve Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia http://www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Lady_Eve_Balfour and the Soil Association http://www.soilassociation.org/ Retrieved 16th March 2012.
- Barkun, Michael [1998] Conspiracy Theories as Stigmatized Knowledge: The Basis for a New Age Racism? pp. 58–72 in Nation and Race: The Developing Euro-American Racist Subculture. [Eds.] Jeffrey Kaplan and Tore Bjorgo. Boston, Northeastern University Press.
- Baudrillard, Jean [1975] The Mirror of Production. N.Y. Telos, p113.

- Bramwell, Anna [1994] *The Fading of the Greens: The Decline of Environmental Politics in the West*. New Haven, N.Y. State University Press, pp 50-52.
- Bramwell Anna [1985] Blood and Soil; Richard Walther Darre and Hitler's 'Green Party' Oxford, Oxford University Press, p1.
- Benatar, David [2006] *Better Never To Have Been: The Harm of Coming Into Existence*. N.Y. Oxford University Press.
- Bennett, John G. Wikipedia, the free encyclopaedia http://www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/John_G._Bennett Retrieved 2nd January, 2013.
- Benson, Daniel [2012] *Dharavi, Mumbai: The Pros and Cons of Slum Living* http://www.danielbenson.hubpages.com Retrieved 6th April, 2012.
- Bergmann, K and Christian Otto [1983] Summer Art Journal essay, *Modern Environment and Historical Continuity: The Heimatschutz Discourse in Germany*. Also *The Heimatschutz Movement* in *Politics and Culture in Wilhelmine Germany: The Case of Industrial Architecture*, Oxford, Berg Publishers Limited, p55.
- Biehl, Janet and Peter Staudenmaier [1995] Eco-fascism: Lessons from the German Experience, Oakland, AK Press, p.26.
- Boulding, K. [2011] at Wikipedia.Org. http://www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Kenneth_Boulding%27s_Evolutionary_ Perspective Retrieved 28th October, 2011.
- Brown, Lester [2001] Eco-Economy. N.Y. Norton.
- Brüggemeier, Franz-Josef, Mark Cioc and Thomas Zeller [2005] *How Green Were the Nazis? Nature, Environment, and Nation in the Third Reich.*Ohio, Ohio University Press. p14.
- Castells, Manuel [2000] *Materials for the Exploratory Theory of the Network Society*. Cambridge, Blackwell.
- Chamberlain, Houston Stewart [2005] *The Foundations of the 19th Century* [1899], Adamant Media Corporation, p.398, Chapter 5.

- Chase, Allan [1977] *The Legacy of Malthus: The Social Costs of the New Scientific Racism.* New York: Alfred A. Knopf, pp. 91-92.
- Chomsky, Noam [2000] *The Colombia Plan:* April 2000. Chomsky.info. http://www.chomsky.info/articles/200006--.htm. Retrieved 11th March 2012.
- Clements, Frederic Wikipedia free encyclopedia http://www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Frederic_Clements Retrieved 20th December, 2012.
- Clinton, B. [1992] *Text of Clinton Speech on Environment, U.S. Newswire*, April 22, 1992. In Steinberg Ted [2012] Retrieved 28th March 2012.
- Coal Mining, History of Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia *en.wikipedia.org/wiki/History_of_coal_mining* Retrieved 2nd January, 2012.
- Cohen, Phil [1997] *The Same Old Generation Game*. CJM, [Canadian Journal of Mathematics] 28 pp8-9.
- Curtis, Adam [2011] *All watched over by machines of loving grace*. SBS October series, [three episodes] Tuesdays on SBS TV, 8.30.pm www.sbs.com.au/documentary/program/allwatchedoverbymachinesoflovin ggrace Retrieved 28th October, 2011.
- Dagger, Catherine [2010] *Rise of the Neo-Nazis? German Neo-Fascism and Anti-Fascism* http://www.voices.yahoo.com/rise-neo-nazis-german-neo-fascism-anti-5483427.html Retrieved 25th March, 2012.
- Daily Record [Scotland] 4th November 2012. *Shock as it emerges serial sex offender was employed by private school to teach music to kids.* http://dailyrecord.co.uk/news/scottish-news/seial-sex-offender-was-employed-by-private-school-to-teach-music.htm Retrieved 2nd December, 2012.
- Devall, Bill and George Sessions [1985] *Deep Ecology: Living as if Nature Mattered*. Salt Lake City, Gibbs M. Smith, p66.
- Ehrlich, Paul R. [1968] *The Population Bomb*. New York, Ballantine Books.
- Ellyard, Peter [2001] *Ideas for the New Millennium*, Melbourne, Melbourne University Press p31.

- Felluga, Dino. Modules on Althusser: On Ideology. Introductory Guide to Critical Theory.
 - http://www.purdue.edu/guidetotheory/marxism/modules/althusserideology.html. Retrieved 30th January, 2013.
- Foreman, Dave [2011] Man Swarm and the Killing of Wildlife; London, Ravens Eye Press.
- Forrester, Jay [2011] Biography of: http://www.thocp.net/biographies/forrester_jay.html Retrieved 28th October, 2011.
- Forster, Michael [2008] *Johann Gottfried von Herder*, The Stanford Encyclopedia of Philosophy [Fall 2008 Edition], Edward N. Zalta [Ed.], http://plato.stanford.edu/archives/fall2008/entries/herder/>. Retrieved 30th January, 2013.
- Freud, S. [1916] *Introductory Lectures on Psychoanalysis*, Harmmondsworth, Penguin, pp182-325.
- Freud, S. [1929] Civilization and its Discontents. Harmmondsworth. Penguin.
- Fuchs. C.J [1904] *Heimatschutz und Volkswirtschaft*, in *Der Kunstwart*. Vol. 17 p212 in Jefferies Matthew [1995] *The Heimatschutz Movement* in *Politics and Culture in Wilhelmine Germany: The Case of Industrial Architecture*, Oxford, Berg Publishers Limited, p60.
- Fuller Buckminster [1968] *Operating Manual for Spaceship Earth* at http://www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Buckminster_Fuller Retrieved 29th October, 2001.
- Gasman, Daniel [1998] *Haeckel's Monism and the Birth of Fascist Ideology* N. Y. Peter Lang, 1998 p. 26.
- Goethe, J.W. [1874] [*The Violet*] www.Poetrytranslation.com Retrieved 12th November 2012.
- Gobineau *Arthur* de [1853] at Wikipedia, free encyclopaedia http://www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Arthur_de_Gobineau Retrieved 6th May 2012.
- Gurdjieff Club www.gurdjieffclub.ru/?id=933 Retrieved 20th February, 2012.

- Gould, Stephen Jay [1977] *Ontogeny and Phylogeny*. Cambridge: Harvard University Press, p 77.
- Griffin, Roger [1995] *Fascism*. Oxford, Oxford University Press and USA; Second Edition.
- Hagen, Edward H. [2005] *The Handbook of Evolutionary Psychology*, [Ed.] David M. Buss, N.Y. John Wiley & Sons, Inc., Chapter 5.
- Halweil, Brian [2012] Worldwatch Eat Here: Reclaiming Homegrown Pleasures in a Global Supermarket. www.worldwatch.org Retrieved 12th January, 2012.
- Hansard Extract: ASSEMBLY Thursday, 5 December 2002 ... www.parliament.wa.gov.au/.../A36%20S2%2020021205%20p4116b Retrieved 4th June 2012.ASSEMBLY Thursday, 5 December 2002 ... www.parliament.wa.gov.au/.../A36%20S2%2020021205%20p4116b Retrieved 4th June 2012.
- Haraway, Donna [1992] *The Promise of Monsters: A regenerative Politics for Inappropriate/d Others*. In Cultural Studies [Ed.] L. Grossberg, C. Nelson and P. Treichler, N.Y. Routledge, p295.
- Indymedia Australia [2012] *Trans-Pacific Partnership Trades Pact would allow national laws to be over ruled by corporations* 2nd August. 2012 www.indymedia.org.au/ Retrieved 5th August, 2012.
- Jefferies, Matthew [1995] *The Heimatschutz Movement* in *Politics and Culture* in *Wilhelmine Germany: The Case of Industrial Architecture*, Oxford, Berg Publishers Limited, p55.
- Hopkins, Rob [2004] *Transition Handbook* Dartington, Totness, Green Books Ltd., p179.
- Howard, Robert [2011] A *History Timeline of Population Control* www.theforbiddenknowledge.com/.../populationcontrolagenda2.htm Retrieved 29th October, 2011.
- Jenkins, C. [1981] *Sociopolitical Movements* in the *Handbook of Political Behavior*. Vol. 4. Samuel L. Long. [Ed.] Plenum Press, N.Y., pp 81-83.

- Karaiskos, Pete [2012] *Waldorf awareness blogspot*http://www.waldorflibrary.org/pg/focusSearch/focusSearch.asp?keywordT
 ype=general and http://petekaraiskos.blogspot.com/ and Rudolf Steiner, *Farbe und Menschenrassen*, lecture in Dornach March 3, 1923, in Steiner,
 Von Leben des Menschen und der Erde, Dornach 1993, p. 67. Retrieved
 13th February 2012.
- Kirk, Andrew G. [2007] Counterculture Green: The Whole Earth Catalog and American Environmentalism Lawrence: University Press of Kansas, [2007], pp11, 52.
- Kriesi, H. R., Koopmans J.W., Duyvendak and M.G. Giungi [1995] *New Social Movements in Western Europe: A Comparative Analysis*. Minneapolis, University of Minnesota, pp167-98.
- Kuhn, Rick [2000] Fascism in Germany today: Debate: Review of Contemporary German Affairs [UK] 2 1993 pp. 131-151 www.anu.edu.au/polsci/rick/fasger.htm Retrieved 4th August, 2012.
- Kumar Satish Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia *en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Satish_Kumar* Retrieved 22nd December, 2012.
- Laqueur, Walter [1962] Young Germany: A History of the German Youth Movement, London, N.Y. Basic Books. p. 34.
- Le Bon [1895, 1903] *The Crowd*. N. Y. Viking Press.
- Lewis, Andy [2012] *Steiner Schools and the Risk Factors for Child Abuse*. Blog www.quackometer.net/.../steiner-schools-and-risk-factors-for-child-a...Retrieved *2nd December*, 2012.
- Los Angeles Times, October 29, 1989, p. 9.
- Lovelock, James [2010] in the UK Guardian 16th September, 2010.www.guardian.co.uk/.../cif.../authoritarianism-ecofascism-alternative; Retrieved 22nd February, 2012.
- Luhmann, Niklas [1977] Differentiation of Society in Canadian Journal of Sociology, Vol. 2. 29.53.
- Macklin, G. [2007] Very Deeply Dyed in Black: Sir Oswald Mosely and the Resurrection of British Fascism. London, Taurus, pp3, 64.

- MacDonald Kevin [2012] http://www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Kevin_B._MacDonald Retrieved 25th March 2012.
- MacCoun, Cathrine [1997] *Work On What Has Been Spoiled* by Catherine MacCoun: See also Rudolf Steiner *Community Life, Inner Development, Sexuality and the Spiritual Teacher* http://www.members.aol.com/kitmac/workon.htm and http://www.ipwebdev.com/hermit/ktmc1/html Retrieved 11th August, 2012.
- Maffesoli, M. [1996] The Time of the Tribe. London, Sage.
- Markham, William T. [2007]. *Nature Protection in Germany: Persistence and Change in a Turbulent Century*. pp. 87–116 in *Protecting Nature: Organizations and Net-works in Europe and the USA*, [Eds.] C. S. A. van Koppen and William T. Markham. Northampton, M.A and Edward Elgar.
- Martin, Greg [2002] Conceptualizing Cultural Politics in Sub-cultural and Social Movement Studies in Social Movement Studies Vol 1. No 1, 2002, p 76.
- McDonald, Kevin [2002] From Solidarity to Fluidarity: Social Movements Beyond Collective Identity the case of globalization conflicts in Social Movement Studies Vol. 1 no 2. pp100-2.
- McKibben, Bill [2007] Deep Economy: The Wealth of Communities and the Durable Future, New York: Times Books, 2007, p 105. Also Bill McKibben, The Greenback Effect: Greed Has Helped Destroy the Planet—Maybe Now It Can Help Save It, Mother Jones, May/June 2008, pp42, 45.
- McTaggart, Lynne [2007] The Intention Experiment: Using Your Thoughts to Change Your Life and the World, New York, Free Press.
- Melucci, Alberto [1996 a] *Changing Codes: Collective Action in the Information Age.* Cambridge, Cambridge University Press. p 2.
- Melucci, A. [1985] *The Symbolic Challenge of Contemporary Movements* in *Social Research* 52 [4] pp789-816.

- Miller, A [2010] In *Psychology of Happiness*. [Eds.] Anna Makinen and Paul Hajek. New York, Nova Science Publishers Inc., p 1.
- Mix, L.Tamara [2009] The *Greening of White Separatism: Use of Environmental Themes*www.ingentaconnect.com/content/berghahn/natcult/2009/.../art00003
 Retrieved 30th January 2013.
- Mosse, Walter and George [1972] [Eds.] *International Fascism* 1920-1945. New York, Harper.
- Muthesius, S. [1995] *The Origins of the German Conservation Movement* in R. Kain. [Ed.] *Planning for Conservation*, London 1981 in Matthew Jefferies [1995] *Politics and Culture in Wilhelmine Germany. The Case of Industrial Architecture* Berg, Oxford.
- Mosse, George L. [1976] *Mass Politics and the Political Liturgy of Nationalism* in *Nationalism: The Nature and evolution of an idea*, [Ed.] Eugene Kamenka, London, Edward Arnold, pp39-54.
- Næss, A. [1989] *Ecology, Community and Lifestyle: Outline of an Ecosophy* Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, p187.
- Nasselstein, P. [2012] **RUDOLF STEINER's ANTHROPOSOPHY, A NAZI CULT?** www.thule-italia.net/.../Peter%20Nasselstein%20-... Retrieved 24th June 2012.
- Nietzsche Friedrich [1961] *Thus spoke Zarathustra*. [Trans.] R.J. Hollingdale, Harmmondsworth, Penguin Books.
- Noosphere http://.www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Noosphere Retrieved 28th October, 2011.
- Nordhaus, Ted and Michael Shellenberger [2007] *Break Through: From the Death of Environmentalism to the Politics of Possibility* Boston: Houghton Mifflin, p8.
- Northrup Hollister, Sara [1924-1997] http://www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Sara_Northrup_Hollister Retrieved 2nd February, 2012.

- Odum, H.T. [1950] *The Biogeochemistry of Strontium: With Discussion on the Ecological Integration of Elements*, A Dissertation presented to the Faculty of the Graduate School of Yale University in Candidacy for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy pp7, 10, 11.
- Odum, H.T. Wikipedia.Org. http://www.en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Howard_T._Odum *Retrieved 29th October*, 2011.
- Oelschlaeger, Max [1991] The Idea of Wilderness: From Prehistory to the Age of Ecology Wisconsin, Yale University.
- Olsen, Jonathon [1999] *Nature and Nationalism: Right-Wing Ecology and the Politics of Identity in Contemporary Germany.* St. Martins Press, N. Y., July 1999.
- Olsen, Jonathan [2000] *The Global Rise of Right Wing Ecology* in Earth Island Journal Vol. 15, No. 2. http://www.earthisland.org/eijournal/sum2000/fe_sum2000rightwingeco.ht ml Retrieved 10th June 2012.
- OTO [2006] *No apology for Magick Mystic sex abuse claim settled* www.theyfly.com/articles/gaia/oto.age.22.11.06.htm Retrieved 2nd February 2012.
- Papworth, John Wikipedia, the free encyclopedia *en.wikipedia.org/wiki/John_Papworth*. Retrieved 22nd December, 2012.
- Pentii, Linkola [2010] in the UK Guardian 16th September, 2010.www.guardian.co.uk/.../cif.../authoritarianism-ecofascism-alternative Retrieved 22nd February, 2012.
- Plamenatz, John [1976] *Mass Politics and the Political Liturgy of Nationalism*, in Nationalism: *The Nature and Evolution of an Idea*. [Ed.] Eugene Kamenka, London, Edward Arnold, p23.
- Prince Charles, [2012] Harmony at http://www.dailymail.co.uk/news/article-1318416/Prince-Charles-uses-book-Harmony-pledge-duty-environment.html#ixzz1nRmGkawH Retrieved 28th February 2012.
- Propaganda Matrix Org. [2011] *Top Scientist Advocates Mass Culling 90% Of Human Population*http://www.propagandamatrix.com/articles/april2006/030406m asculling.htm Retrieved 26th December, 2011.

- Ranker, Peder [2011] www.pederanker.com Retrieved 27th October, 2011 and Adam Curtis [2011] *All watched over by machines of loving grace* SBS [October, [three episodes] Tuesdays on SBS TV, 8.30.pm.www.sbs.com.au/documentary/program/allwatchedoverbymachin esoflovinggrace Retrieved 28th October, 2011.
- Ray, Kathryn and Mike Savage, Gindo Tampubolon, Alan Warde, Brian Longhurst and Mark Tomlinson [2003] *The Exclusiveness of the Political Field: Networks and Political Mobilization* in Social Movement Studies Vol. 2. 1 p40.
- Redhead, S. [1993] *Rave off: Politics and Deviance in Contemporary Youth Culture*, Aldershot, Avebury, pp3-4.
- Redesdale, Lord [1913] *Introduction to Foundations of the Nineteenth Century*, London, 4th English language impression, 1913, p. vi and Mosse, George L. Introduction to the 1968 Edition. *Foundations of the Nineteenth Century*. Chamberlain, Houston Stewart. Vol. I. Trans. John Lees. New York: Howard Fertig inc., 1968, p. ix.
- Reich, Wilhelm [1995] *The Mass Psychology of Fascism*. N.Y.The Noonday Press, p. 138.
- Robbins, R [2008] *Global problems and the culture of capitalism*, Boston, Pearson, p116.
- Rockerfeller, J.D. [2012] Wiki.answers.com http://wiki.answers.com/Q/Did_JD_Rockefeller_like_social_darwinism#ix zz255IlMpYy Retrieved 30th August, 2012.
- Rucht, Dieter and Friedheim Neidhardt [2002] Towards a Movement Society in Social Movement Studies. Vol. 1 No. 1.
- Rudolf Steiner Social Finance, www.rsfsocialfinance.org Retrieved 14th March 2012.
- Rudolf Steiner Archives: Lecture III: *The Balance in the* World *and Man, Lucifer and* Ahriman wn.rsarchive.org/Lectures/Bal**World**/19141122p01.html Retrieved 2nd January 2013.
- Russell, Ruby [2011] *German links serial killings to neo-Nazis*, USA Today, 19th December, 2011.

- Sandbrook, Dominic [2011] Daily Mail 30th December, 2011. *Will 2012 be the new Dark Age*? Mail Online www.dailymail.co.uk/debate/article.../Will-2012-new-Dark-Age.html Retrieved 15th February, 2012.
- Schopenhauer, Arthur [1966] *The World as Will and Representation* [Trans.] E.F.J. Payne E. F. J. Payne. London, Dover, pp349 and 605.
- Schumacher E.F. [1973] *Small is Beautiful* at Wikipedia.Org http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Small_Is_Beautiful and Wikipedia.Org Retrieved 7th November, 2011.
- Shirer, William L. [1959] *The Rise and Fall of the Third Reich*. [1985] Bookclub Associates Edition, p.107.
- Simmons, Leigh W. Gillian Rhodes, Marianne Peters, Nicole Koehler [2004] *Are human preferences for facial symmetry focused on signals of developmental instability?* Behavioral Ecology [2004] 15 [5] 864-871.
- Singer, Peter [2010] *Should This Be The Last Generation*? New York Times 6th June 2010
 Opinionatorhttp://www.opinionator.blogs.nytimes.com.2010/06/06/should _this_be_the_last_generation?hp Retrieved 22nd December 2012.
- Steinberg, Ted [2012] *Origins of Green Capitalism*. Radical History Review 107 [Spring 2010], re-posted on Climate and Capitalism 27th March 2012 www.climateandcapitalism.com Retrieved 28th March 2012.
- Stuart Mill, John [1985] On Liberty, Penguin Classics, 2006 p120.
- Stuart Mill, John [1806-1873] *On Liberty*. http://www.ebooks.adelaide.edu.au/m/mill/john_stuart/m6450 Retrieved 29th October, 2011.
- Stuart Mill, John [1806-1873] *Utilitarianism* Chapter 2. http://www.ebooks.adelaide.edu.au/m/mill/john_stuart/m645u Retrieved 29th October, 2011.
- Sydney Morning Herald [2011] *Ruthless' Scientology* condemned in tax debate 29th June 2010. www.smh.com.au/.../ruthless-scientology-condemned-intax-debate-... Retrieved 11th April 2012.
- Tarde, G. [1903] in Nye R.A. [1974] *The Origins of Crowd Psychology*. London and Thousand Oaks Sage.
- Touraine, Alain [2002] *The Importance of Social Movements, Social Movement Studies*, Vol. 1. No 1 2002.

- Trotter, W. [1916-1919] *Instincts of the Herd in Peace and War* Oxford, Oxford University Press.
- Uekötter, Frank. [2006]. *The Green and the Brown: History of Conservation in Nazi Germany*. N. Y. Cambridge University Press.
- UK Guardian [2012] http://www.guardian.co.uk/environment/2012/jan/18/david- attenboroughbig-business. Retrieved 22nd January 2012.
- UK Guardian [2006] *Life expectancy is 67: Minutes from Glasgow City Centre its 54.* http://www.guardian.co.uk/society/2006/jan/21.health.politics Retrieved 2nd October, 2011.
- van Wyck, Peter C. [1997] *Primitives in the Wilderness: Deep Ecology and the Missing Human Subject*. N.Y. State University Press, pp 24, 40-41.
- Veblen, T. [1899] The *Theory of the Leisure Class* in Miriam Schnier [Ed.] N.Y. Vintage 1994 pp214-215.
- Watters, Ethan [2003] *Urban Tribes: Are Friends the New Family*? London, Bloomsbury.
- Weber, M. [1946] *The Protestant Ethic and the Spirit of Capitalism*. New York, Scribner's Sons, p182 and http://plato.stanford.edu/entries/weber/Retrieved 20th June, 2009.
- Wickson, Fern [2012] Why we need to forget about the environmentalism. $Gen \emptyset k$ Centre for Biosafety. The Conversation, 30 August 2012. http://www.theconversation.org Retrieved 30th August, 2012.
- Wilber, K. [1990] Physics, *Mysticism and the New Holographic Paradigm* in *Eye to Eye* [1990] Boulder Colorado, Shambhala Press p147 and p218.
- Willis, Paul [1990] *Common Culture*. Milton Keynes. Open University Press, p158.
- Wolf, E. [1982] *Europe and the People Without History*. Berkley, University of California Press, p 100.
- Zell, Otto [1970] *The Church of All Worlds Handbook* at www.scribed.com/doc/62319098/CAW-mbr-hdbk-1stEd Retrieved 15th July, 2012.

Zeneth City News. E.F. Schumacher. http://www.zenithcitynews.com/080211/faces.htm Retrieved 7th May 2012.

Zwartz, Barney [2006] The Melbourne Age: *Cult fights claims of child sacrifice*. November 22, 2006 http://www.theage.com.au/news/national/cult-fights-claims-of-child-sacrifice/2006/11/21/1163871404937.html Retrieved 1st February 2012. And www.theyfly.com/articles/gaia/oto.age.22.11.06.htm Retrieved 2nd February 2012.

Index.

AID: 31.

Anthropocentricism: 8.

Anthroposophy: 27, 81, 82, 83, 84, 89.

Apocalypse: 7, 68, 69, 79.

Aryan: 43, 82, 91, 92, 93, 94.

Attenborough, D: 5,113.

Autarky: 1, 5, 21, 26, 29, 98, 99.

Authoritarian: 6, 16, 22, 60, 70, 79, 110.

Balfour Lady Eve: 28, 102.

Bayreuth Circle: 94.

Behavior: 18, 19, 24, 45, 46, 47, 51, 56, 68, 74, 86, 106, 112.

Bennett John: 34, 35, 103.

Bioregionalism: 39, 41, 42.

Bramwell, A. 35, 103.

Brand Stewart: 24.

British Union of Fascists: 29.

Brown, Lester: 63.

Capitalism: 5, 16, 22, 24, 38, 39, 41, 42, 52, 63, 68,

73, 99, 100, 101.

Carbon: 30, 63.

Civil Rights: 11, 43.

Civil Society: 21, 41, 99, 100.

Class: 11,115.

Clements Frederic C. 42, 104.

Climate Change: 5, 30, 37, 38, 39, 70, 73, 102.

Clinton Bill: 38, 104.

Commoner Barry: 30, 115.

Community: 13, 115.

Consciousness: 10, 11, 36, 55, 56, 65, 92, 100, 101.

Containment: 22.

Cultural Revolution: 54.

Darwinism: 94, 111.

Decentering: 10, 59.

Democracy: 7, 17, 21, 65, 70, 72, 81.

Development: 12, 21, 27, 42, 47, 57, 62, 70, 89, 91, 96, 108, 112.

Earth Day: 38.

Eco-Fascism: 107,110.

Eco-housing: 40.

Ecology: 5, 7, 8, 10, 15, 16, 17, 21, 22, 27, 28, 0, 32, 34, 35, 39, 41, 43, 44,

45, 47, 1, 53, 55, 57, 58, 59, 60, 61, 66, 67, 68, 69, 71, 75, 78, 81,

94, 98, 99, 101, 104, 109.

Economics: 25, 35, 55, 58, 59, 77.

Ecosophy: 7, 8, 9, 109.

Ehrlich Paul: 31, 32, 104.

Enlightenment: 5, 21, 61.

Eurythmy: 96.

Fascism: 14, 71, 72, 77, 110, 111, 103, 104, 106.

Food: 6, 12, 28, 29, 31, 32, 63, 73, 74, 77, 81, 95, 98.

Fuel: 12, 34, 38, 60, 71.

Germany: 24, 26, 51, 110.

Gobineau, A. 93, 105.

Grant, Madison: 43.

Green Party: 77, 76, 92, 103.

Haeckel Ernst: 27, 28, 105.

Haraway: 8, 10.

Heimatschutz: 17, 27, 48, 58, 71, 74, 76, 77, 78, 86, 103, 105, 106.

Heinberg, Richard: 68.

Herder, Johann Gottfried von: 64, 65, 105.

Hubbard, R. 84.

Idealism: 24, 26, 77, 76, 93.

Identity: 13, 19, 20, 21, 22, 27, 108, 110.

Ideology: 14,15, 105.

Illich, Ivan: 35,36.

India: 26, 31, 35, 36, 40

Institution: 17, 20, 35, 76, 87.

Jenks Jorian: 29.

Klages, Ludwig. 48.

Kumar Satish 36,37,107.

Le Bon, G. 18, 19, 65, 75, 107, 112.

Liberalism: 43, 81.

Linkola Pentii: 70.

Localization: 5, 6, 7, 39, 48, 51, 69.

Lovelock: 54, 70, 107.

Macy Joanna: 66.

Markets: 27, 30, 38, 39, 53, 63, 68.

Marx: 11, 14, 16, 99.

McKibben Bill: 39, 108.

Minority traditions: 5, 22, 67.

Mother Earth: 29, 69.

Mysteria Mystica Maxims [MMA]: 83.

Naess Arne: 60.

Nationalism: 21, 22, 58, 64, 65, 109,110.

Nature: 5, 8, 9, 10, 12, 13, 15, 31, 34, 37, 43, 45, 47, 48, 53, 54, 55, 57, 59,

60, 63, 64, 66, 67, 69, 73, 76, 78, 79, 81, 85, 90, 93, 99, 103, 104, 108, 109, 110.

Nazism: 92, 93.

Networks: 19, 50, 52.

New Age: 9.

New Economics Foundation: 35.

Noosphere: 55, 57.

Odum, H.T. 59, 110.

Olsen, Johathon: 50, 71, 110.

Ordo Templi Orientis [OTO]: 83, 84, 85, 86.

Organic: 24, 27, 28, 29, 81, 98.

Papworth, John: 36.

Paternalism: 23,117.

Perceptions: 7, 8, 44, 45, 66.

Pessimism: 53, 94.

Pluralism: 20, 116.

Politics: 14, 15, 19, 21, 24, 34, 52, 64, 68, 75, 106, 108, 109, 110, 111.

Population: 7, 12, 30, 31, 32, 33, 42, 47, 48, 56, 59, 61, 62, 65, 71, 73,

87,104, 106, 110.

Primitive: 5,22, 26, 113.

Prince Charles: 28, 30, 80, 40,110.

Radicalism: 20, 117.

Rand Ayn: 51,102.

Ravenscroft T. 92.

Reich W. 17, 48, 76, 78, 82, 88, 103, 106, 111, 112. 92.

Resurgence: 22, 36, 72.

Romanticism: 5, 41, 61,76, 94.

Rudorff, Ernst: 76.

Schumacher E.F: 24, 25, 26.

Scientology: 84, 85, 112.

Self-Regulation: 42, 54, 48, 51, 70, 72, 76, 75, 78, 84,

96, 103, 105, 106, 107, 108, 109 113.

Separatism: 20, 109,117.

Singer, Peter: 32, 33, 34, 112.

Small Schools Movement: 35.

Social Movements: 3, 5, 11, 12, 18, 19, 20, 21, 36, 39, 42, 49, 100,

102, 108, 112.

Socialist: 7, 26, 27, 30, 79.

Sociobiology: 47,116.

Soil Association: 27, 28, 29, 30, 118.

Solidarity: 20, 108,117.

Sovereignty: 13, 22, 117.

Spirituality: 8, 10, 25, 34, 35, 55, 57, 60, 69, 75, 76, 78, 81,108.

Starvation: 31.

Steiner Rudolf: 4, 27, 35, 81, 82, 83, 84, 85, 86, 87, 88, 89, 90, 91, 92,

93, 95, 96, 97, 98, 102, 107, 108, 109, 111.

Steiner Schools: 81,85, 95, 96, 97.

Stuart Mill, John: 61.

Systems: 7, 8, 35, 54, 55, 59, 66.

Tansley, Arthur: 53.

Taoist: 9.

Theosophical Society: 82.

Transition Towns: 35.

Tribal: 58, 74.

Unification: 7, 21, 45, 55, 65, 75, 76, 78.

Van Wyck:15,16,61,66.

Veblen: 11,12.

Vitalism: 1, 5, 27, 98.

Whole Earth: 17, 24, 102, 107.

[W]holistic: 7, 17, 27, 44, 67, 70.

Wigman Mary: 75.

Wilber, K. 57.

Wilderness: 5, 12, 73, 102, 110, 113.

Wilson, E O. 45, 46, 47.

Xenophobia: 21, 51.

Youth: 88, 107, 111.

Zell, Otto: 69.

Biography.

Dr Chris James is an environmentalist, artist and psychotherapist who lives and works in rural Victoria. She was born in 1948 in London's outer east. In the 1960s she joined the peace movement after attending an anti-nuclear protest in London. She has maintained a lifelong commitment to the peace movement. After leaving school Chris James travelled to the Middle East where she met post-colonial activists and learned more about the history of global conflicts. On returning to London she studied history and literature at the Tottenham Polytechnic College and painting at the Chelsea School of Art. Once a week she would also travel to the Oscar Kokoschka Art School run by one of his pupils Kristin Berge and she visited Henry Moore's sculpture studio in Much Haddam where she developed her interests in art as therapy and political activism. Having settled into London's West End Chris James secured a position working in the production office of the film producer Sam Spiegel. There she met the elderly Russian Baroness Moura Budberg, the once common law wife of revolutionary Maxim Gorky. The Baroness, a successful writer, encouraged Chris to pursue writing and politics. In the late 1960s Chris James left England to take up employment in Johannesburg. She spent four years living under South Africa's apartheid rule which sealed her commitment to a Human Rights and global justice. In 1973 she moved to Western Australia and joined the environment movement, the feminist movement and the prison reform movement. She was also a member of the Human Rights Association, the Crime Prevention Council and she was a Vice President of the Council of Civil Liberties. 1990s Chris James joined the Victorian Greens Party where she twice won pre-selection in state and Federal elections. After returning to study she received two Masters Degrees and a Today, Dr James facilitates therapy groups in rural Victoria and is a researcher She has written a number of articles, film and book and conflict resolution consultant. reviews and she produces self-help manuals. Her previous book 'The Canibalization of Jesus and the Persecution of the Jews' [2008] was the fulfillment of her long time quest to explain the theory of shifting consciousness and its social consequences and it gained recognition as an important contribution to Jewish history by the Director of the Library of the Jewish Museum in Sydney.

Notes.